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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS 

 

Fellow Shareholders: 

Last year, Sunwah International laid the foundation for future opportunity and growth.  In addition to adopting a new name and 
brand to reflect the increased support of the Sunwah Group, our controlling shareholder, we refined our strategy for capitalizing on 
changes presented by Asia’s fastest growing economies and their long-term need for foreign resources to support domestic 
demand.  Fiscal 2012 was about fine-tuning this strategy and strengthening the roots of opportunity for long-term success.  

Overall, China and Southeast Asia, the focus of Sunwah International’s business model, remain some of the most settled global 
economic regions.  Despite slowing growth in China during the period, the Company is confident in the country’s long-term 
potential and ability to drive strong advances globally in industries impacted most by its development.  As well, we are focused on 
Malaysia, Vietnam and the Philippines, countries that are also increasing in strength in addition to being incredibly rich in the 
resources China needs most.  Leveraging the reputable, well known Sunwah Group brand and solid connections gained from a 
22-year history, Sunwah International is uniquely positioned to capitalize on these prospects, and during the year we continued to 
actively and strategically uncover opportunities for the creation of long-term value.        

FISCAL 2012 PERFORMANCE 

Despite the footholds established and doors of opportunity opened in Fiscal 2012, the 12 months ended June 30, 2012 were 
challenging for Sunwah International — and virtually every financial organization worldwide — characterized by the bleakest 
global economic conditions since the financial collapse of 2008.  Clouded by political uncertainty and turbulent markets, our 2012 
fiscal year saw the United States’ division on the political front further intensify while the country battled persistently high 
unemployment rates.  Further contributing to an atmosphere of negative investor sentiment globally, the European sovereign debt 
crisis and concerns over the region’s weakening banking systems continued to plague capital markets while Japan, home to one 
of the world’s largest stock exchanges, struggled to rebuild following the country’s devastating 2011 earthquake and tsunami, and 
its resulting nuclear crisis.   

Amid these dreary global economic conditions, during the year Sunwah International and our principal operating subsidiary, 
Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited, experienced a significant depreciation of its proprietary investment portfolio.  
Notwithstanding the fact that we were able to stave off the full force of the downturn thanks to relatively steady revenues in our 
Capital Markets Group, the organization’s investment portfolio sustained realized and unrealized mark-to-market losses of US 
$12.1 million, contributing to an overall net loss of US $16.3 million for Fiscal 2012. 

While we are, of course, disappointed with this year’s earnings, on a more optimistic note we feel fortunate to have weathered the 
storm better than many financial services organizations.  Despite the depressed IPO and capital markets in Hong Kong and 
abroad, we were able to capitalize on several key opportunities during the year through the amplification of our Capital Markets 
Group activities, born of a strategy to concentrate resources where our core competencies lie during these uncertain times.  As a 
result, revenue from services and other income only slightly decreased to US $13.5 million, compared with US $14.9 million in 
Fiscal 2011, demonstrating the viability of this shift in strategy.   

CAPITAL MARKETS GROUP  

Sunwah International’s Capital Markets Group is operated by Sunwah Kingsway, the Company’s Hong Kong based subsidiary, 
which has a reputation for capital markets excellence in Hong Kong gained of 22 years in business and a suite of award-winning 
offerings.  The result is our current footing as one of Hong Kong’s most respected middle market financial services providers with 
global reach and vision, and a top brokerage firm boasting a distribution network that is unparalleled by our domestic peers.  

As touched upon, capital markets activity lagged during Sunwah International’s fiscal 2012 year and IPO markets slowed to a 
virtual halt at times, resulting in postponed IPO proposals and scaled down fundraisings.  Against this backdrop, Sunwah 
International’s Capital Markets Group rose to the challenge and adopted a back-to-basics approach.  Specifically, we 
strengthened our business development efforts and corporate finance pursuits, adding an additional team while simultaneously 
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taking care to manage costs.  Our strategy worked, and during the course of this challenging year this Group was able to take 
advantage of several windows of opportunity, including key transactions such as the listing of Sino Harbour Property and the 
placing of shares of China Leason.   

Moving forward, we expect our Capital Markets Group to continue in its capacity as the backbone of the Company, supported by 
our reputation, track record and the corporate development channels created through Sunwah International’s Strategic Investment 
and Asset Management Groups. 

STRATEGIC INVESTMENT 

Over the last two decades, Sunwah International’s Strategic Investments Group has played a significant role in fuelling our growth, 
and continues to be a core element of our expansion strategy.  This division uses proprietary funds to invest directly in quality 
opportunities with significant upside that are poised to benefit key sectors of the Chinese economy, which helps us in diversifying 
our revenues with a view to stabilizing earnings and protecting the Company during times of market uncertainty. While a 
cornerstone of Sunwah International’s business model involves capitalizing on China’s long-term need for foreign resources, our 
Strategic Investment Group’s investment interests are global, targeting the natural resources, infrastructure and real estate 
sectors in line with our experience and strategic strengths. 

Fiscal 2012 was an important year for our Strategic Investment Group as we established the framework for growth within this 
division.  In line with our strategy of targeting resources where we excel, during the year we uncovered various opportunities 
designed to capitalize on our specialized expertise in energy, mining and infrastructure; prospects we continue to actively pursue 
in Fiscal 2013 while balancing our mandate to streamline costs.    

ASSET MANAGEMENT 

Sunwah International has a well-established history for successfully investing in propitious, pre-IPO and non-public entities 
through targeted pools of capital, oftentimes in conjunction with major Asian firms such as Sinochem Corporation and Softbank.  
While we continue to engage in such activities, our Asset Management Group is looking to expand our endeavours to capitalize 
on strong fundamentals in Hong Kong’s asset/wealth management arena in recent years — the product of China’s growing desire 
to invest outside its own borders, regulatory schemes that allow for greater capital outflow, and the country’s mushrooming middle 
class.   

STRATEGY AND OUTLOOK 

In addition to moving forward with our short-term strategy of streamlining costs and focusing on our core strengths, a keystone of 
Sunwah International’s long-term development involves positioning the company to remain competitive amid fluctuating markets 
while enabling us to prosper during good economic times.   To achieve this equilibrium, as touched upon we continue to pursue 
additional revenue channels in our Strategic Investment Group, designed to balance and expand our revenue base and stabilize 
earnings in future periods.  Also to this end, we are taking measures to lessen the high concentration of assets in our proprietary 
investments portfolio.  

In terms of our corporate strategy, Sunwah International is confident that China will continue to play a major role in world 
economic growth, and that our focus on natural resources combined with our strong Asian foothold will enable us to benefit 
significantly in the long term from China’s continuing development.  As well, we anticipate that the Chinese Renminbi will play an 
increasingly stronger role in international currency transactions in view of China’s heightened standing and importance as a global 
investor, and the growing weakness of the U.S. dollar.  Finally, also boding well for our prospects, Sunwah International is firm in 
our belief that the stream of investment capital from Europe, North American and the Middle East towards Asia will increase, 
particularly in China and Southeast Asia, where we are uniquely positioned to capitalize on this flow.   

Despite these beacons of encouragement for our prospects in the medium to long-term, Fiscal 2013 is shaping up to be another 
challenging year for investors as capital markets worldwide, including Hong Kong, adjust to the issues arising from the European 
Common Market and the United States as discussed earlier.  As a result, markets will likely continue to be uncertain and 
characterized by negative investor sentiment in the short-term, which will impact Sunwah International despite the efforts and 
strategies we have in place to minimize the influence of unsettled markets. 
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CONCLUSION 

Sunwah International is a distinctive Company with a unique stance and strategy in what we believe to be one of the world’s most 
favourable operating environments.  Our synergistic base of offerings, designed to encourage cross-pollination, combines with our 
Asian roots, our niche positioning in the unpopulated middle tier, and the highly reputable Sunwah brand to create a unique 
opportunity for future growth.   

Further sharpening our competitive advantage, the Company lays claim to esteemed, highly qualified leaders and a solid foothold 
in Hong Kong and China, giving us an edge as Hong Kong continues to position itself as the Asian gateway for investment in 
natural resources and related sectors — industries in which we offer specialized expertise.  As a result, we are uniquely positioned 
to capitalize on Asia’s long-term growth, acting as a bridge between East and West.   

At this time I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Company’s excellent, dedicated team of professionals.  Sunwah 
International and its subsidiaries would not be the organization it is today without your commitment. 

As well, I would like to take the opportunity to recognize the contribution of the Company’s Board of Directors, and to extend my 
appreciation for their outstanding guidance and unfailing governance throughout the year. 

Last but certainly not least, I thank our shareholders, including the Sunwah Group, our majority shareholder, for their ongoing 
commitment and invaluable support.   

 

 

 

Douglas C. Betts 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

Sunwah International Limited 
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Fiscal year ended June 30, 2012 – this document is dated September 18, 2012 and filed on September 21, 2012 

This management’s discussion & analysis (“MD&A”) for the year ended June 30, 2012 (“FY2012”) should be read in conjunction 
with the audited consolidated financial statements of Sunwah International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”).  The financial data included in this MD&A, including financial data relating to comparative periods in the prior year, has 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and are expressed in United States dollars 
(“US$”), unless otherwise specified.  The consolidated financial statements and MD&A have been reviewed and approved by the 
Company’s Audit Committee, while the MD&A has been reviewed and approved by the Company’s Disclosure Committee.  The 
Company’s auditors have audited the consolidated financial statements and read the MD&A.  Management has designed 
disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Company, including 
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to them by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which the 
annual filings are being prepared, and are disclosed in public documents as required.  Management has also designed and 
implemented internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. The Company 
bases its estimates on historical experience, current trends and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

1.  BUSINESS OVERVIEW 

Sunwah International Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is a strategically positioned asset-based financial services provider, 
linking the global investment community with the People’s Republic of China’s (“PRC”) high growth economy.  In addition to 
engaging in proprietary investment activities, the Group offers a variety of complementary, client focused services through two 
operating groups:  capital markets and asset management.  The Group’s primary operating subsidiary is Sunwah Kingsway 
Capital Holdings Limited (“SWK”), which is based in Hong Kong and listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The SWK 
group is licensed to provide a range of financial services.  The Group operates from six offices located in Hong Kong, Beijing, 
Shanghai, Shenzhen, Macau and Toronto. 

Over the last few years, while China has become a dominant player on the world’s financial stage, many of the remaining major 
economic centres struggled.  The United States remains deeply divided on the political front while it continues to face massive 
government debt at all levels, continued government spending and an economy which continues to grow but at a very slow pace.  
The European Union (“EU”) continues under increased pressure from members’ sovereign debt and its weakening banking 
systems; and  Japan, the world’s third largest economic force, continues in a state of economic doldrums while rebuilding after the 
devastating earthquake and tsunami of 2011. 

While China remains as a growing economic region, it is not without its economic, political and social issues. The Chinese 
government continues to use capital spending on infrastructure and public sector work projects as a means to accelerate growth. 
But we view China as the strongest amongst the worlds’ major economies with continued substantial growth prospects.  
Increasing in strength are the South East Asian nations such as Indonesia, Malaysia, Vietnam and the Philippines, many of which 
are incredibly rich in the resources needed by China. 

We continue to believe that China’s two greatest needs will be energy and resources, driven by the continued growth of the 
burgeoning middle class.  The Company has become a provider of financial services in these sectors and an opportunistic 
investor in these and related sectors.  The Group’s strategy continues to be to use its investment activities strategically to 
generate advisory services revenue while creating value for its shareholders through asset accumulation and investment in the 
sectors on which it focuses. We also seek to create a platform of more stable revenue by increasingly focusing on opportunities in 
the asset and fund management sectors as well as revenue generated by advisory services. 

 

 



  

7 

 

1.  BUSINESS OVERVIEW (CONTINUED) 

The Company operates as a China focused, multi-disciplined, asset based financial services firm, with a business model based on 
natural resources and international transactions.  While its focus may be in China, Sunwah International’s investment interests are 
global. 

 

2. MARKET ENVIRONMENT AND GENERAL IMPACT ON THE GROUP 

2.1 FY2012 

Fiscal 2012 has proven to be a very difficult year for most participants in the financial services sector, and the Company was no 
exception.  Generally capital markets worldwide declined with the exception being the United States, where most indices were 
generally flat, with some showing very marginal increases year over year. During the calendar year, market participants realized 
that the Chinese consumer market was not growing at the pace forecasted.  This slowing of growth, coupled with a marked 
decline in both real estate and construction activity throughout the period in most areas of China triggered a slowing of investment 
into China, and a decline in trading volumes throughout most of the Asian capital markets.  In addition, the problems associated 
with the bank and sovereign debt of the southern European nations and an inability of the European Central Bank to deal with 
these issues on a timely basis combined with political uncertainty throughout the region resulted in a declining market in all 
sectors in Europe.  In Canada, where the Company has made investments in the natural resource sector, the TSX all ordinaries 
declined approximately 12.8% and the S&PTSX mining and metals index dropped nearly 40% throughout the fiscal year.  This 
drop in value is attributable to a slowdown in the growth of China with a direct impact on the commodity sector, with prices for key 
commodities having dropped dramatically throughout the fiscal year.  

The Group’s business is increasingly global, and as has been demonstrated by the financial performance this year, capital 
markets outside of Asia will have a significant impact in the financial performance of the Company, and increasingly, the Group. 

In FY2012, the Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) traded in a range of 16,250 – 22,770 and closed at 19,441 as at June 29, 2012.  The 
average monthly turnover on the Main Board and GEM of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange was approximately US$161 billion in 
FY2012, compared to US$ 196 billion in FY2011.  The funds raised from IPOs on the Main Board declined to US$15 billion in 
FY2012, as compared to US$73 billion in FY2011.  These statistics represent a major decline in trading activity in the markets. 

2.2 OUTLOOK FOR FY2013 

The Company believes that China will continue to be a major factor in any growth in the global economy.  The Company continues 
its focus on natural resources - in particular mining and energy - and should benefit from China’s continuing growth.  Increasingly, 
we expect the Chinese Renminbi to play a larger role in international currency transactions driven by China’s increased global 
stature as an international investor and the growing importance of China as a trading partner. 

We believe that the flow of investment capital from Europe (both Western and Eastern Europe), North America and the Middle 
East towards Asia will increase, particularly in China and South East Asia.  The Group continues to position itself as a financial 
services provider participating in these flows of capital.   

FY2013 will be a difficult year for investors as capital markets worldwide (including Hong Kong) adjust to the issues arising from 
the EU and the United States referred to above and to a slowing of the growth of the Chinese economy. 
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3.  ADOPTION OF IFRS 

In 2010, the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA Handbook”) was revised to incorporate IFRS, 
and required publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards for the financial years beginning on or after January 1, 
2011. 

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2012 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.  
The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2011 were prepared under the Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”).  A detailed description of the differences between Canadian GAAP 
and IFRS, as well as a reconciliation of the Canadian GAAP consolidated financial statements to IFRS were included in Note 5 to 
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2012.   

As part of the transition to IFRS, the Company completed an assessment on internal controls and information technology systems 
to ensure compliance with IFRS, both for the transaction processing level and for the financial reporting disclosure requirements 
purposes.  Based on this review, no significant changes were required to existing procedures.  The Company will assess future 
IFRS developments on an ongoing basis.  Future changes to IFRS may affect the Group’s financial and reporting disclosure 
requirements. 

 

 4.  OVERVIEW – FY2012 VS FY2011 

The Group recorded a loss before tax of US$21.8 million in FY2012, compared to US$0.1 million in FY2011.  Loss attributable to 
the owners of the Company was US$16.6 million in FY2012, compared to US$1.7 million in FY2011.      

Taking into account the operating cash flow requirements of the Company and the cash dividend received and receivable from 
SWK, its primary operating subsidiary, the Company did not declare any final dividend to shareholders in FY2012.   
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5.  FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  

5.1 SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

 

 Notes:  

(1) Total long-term liabilities include non-current portion of convertible debentures, bank loans and obligations under finance leases. 
(2) Comparative financial data for the year ended June 30, 2010 has been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 
 

5.2 REVENUE  

On a consolidated basis, the Group recognizes two main revenue streams, namely, (i) revenue from services and other income 
and (ii) trading income.  Revenue from services and other income is mainly derived from the commission and fee income from its 
financial intermediary business and dividend and interest income.  Revenue from trading income is derived from trading activities 
for its own account. 

The Group recorded a net loss of US$12.1 million on the disposal of financial assets/liabilities and remeasurement to fair value in 
FY2012, compared to a net gain of US$11.2 million in FY2011.  The FY2012 loss was attributable to the substantial unrealized 
mark to market losses of the Group’s investment portfolio in the current year, mainly attributable to the deterioration of the market 
as influenced by the European sovereign debt crisis.  A gain on disposal of available for sale financial assets of US$0.1 million 
was recorded in FY2012, there was no such gain in FY2011. 

Commission and fee income of US$10.5 million was recorded in FY2012, compared to US$13.1 million in FY2011.  The 
commission and fee income was mainly contributed from the listing of an IPO client in July 2011.  Interest and dividend income 
increased to US$3.0 million in FY2012, from US$1.8 million in FY2011, mainly attributable to the increase in the margin loans 
portfolio. 

 

 

June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 June 30, 2010

(US$'000) (US$'000) (US$'000)
(Note 2)

Revenue from services and other income 13,475                      14,854                      12,350                      
Trading (loss)/income (12,036)                    11,214                      7,306                        
Total revenue 1,439                        26,068                      19,656                      
Loss before discontinued operations (16,557)                    (1,730)                      (1,333)                      
(Loss)/income for the year (16,557)                    (1,730)                      4,140                        
Total assets 104,701                    129,506                    136,638                    
Total long-term liabilities (note 1) (18,038)                    (4,429)                      (7,014)                      

(US$) (US$) (US$)
Loss before discontinued operations
  (on a per-share basis) (0.1793)                    (0.0190)                    (0.0161)                    
Loss before discontinued operations
  (on a diluted per-share basis) (0.1793)                    (0.0190)                    (0.0161)                    
Net (loss)/income (on a per-share basis) (0.1793)                    (0.0190)                    0.0500                      
Net (loss)/income (on a diluted per-share basis) (0.1793)                    (0.0190)                    0.0495                      
Cash dividends declared per common share -                               0.0103                      0.0188                      
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5.  FINANCIAL OVERVIEW (CONTINUED) 

5.3 EXPENSES 

Selling and administrative expenses (including commission expenses) decreased to US$22.5 million in FY2012 from US$24.2 
million in FY2011, mainly attributable to (i) the decrease in staff costs (including basic salary, commission and variable staff costs) 
which was in line with the decrease in operating income; (ii) the non-cash transactions in relation to the recognition of US$2.2 
million compensation costs for the stock options granted by the Company and SWK to several directors, officers and employees of 
the Group in FY2011.  The decrease was partially offset by the expenses incurred in relation to the relocation of office premises in 
Hong Kong and the legal fees and related expenses in relation to the K&L Gates’ case during the year.   

5.4 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 

A fair value gain of US$3.4 million in relation to the fair value changes on financial derivative liabilities of the Company’s issued 
unsecured convertible debentures was recognized in FY2012, compared to a US$2.1 million non-cash loss in relation to the fair 
value changes on financial derivative liabilities and net loss on repurchase, amendment of terms and conversion of the convertible 
debentures in FY2011.   

Impairment loss on available for sale financial assets of US$2.7 million was recognized in FY2012, attributable to the devaluation 
of certain investments held.  The decline was in line with the deterioration of the capital market during the year.  The decline in 
value was recognized in the consolidated statement of operations instead of other comprehensive expenses as there is objective 
evidence that the investments are impaired. 

Provision for impairment of receivables of US$0.5 million was recognized in the current year, compared to a write back of US$0.3 
million in FY2011.  As explained in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has deposited HK$40.0 million, 
approximately equivalent to US$5.1 million into an escrow account of a law firm, K&L Gates, but the law firm failed to return the 
deposit to the Group despite the demand for payment by the Group.  The Group’s legal counsel has reviewed the documentary 
evidence in respect of the escrow agreement, has analyzed the legal duties and obligations of the law firm arising from the terms 
of the escrow agreement and has analyzed the legal and professional duties and obligations of the law firm arising from the 
receipt of the Escrow Funds (which were client monies and held in trust).  The Group’s legal counsel is of the opinion that the 
Group has good prospects on succeeding on its claim to recover the Escrow Funds and that it is very likely that any judgement 
obtained would be satisfied.  However, there might be a reduction in the ultimate recovery of the Escrow Funds by the amount of 
the service fees paid to the Group and the legal fees and expenses for the lawsuit which might not be entirely recovered.  As a 
result, the Group recognized an impairment loss of HK$3.5 million (equivalent to approximately US$0.4 million) on the other 
receivable during the year. 

5.5 SHARE OF LOSSES OF ASSOCIATES 

Share of losses of associates increased to US$0.8 million for FY2012, compared to US$0.4 million for FY2011, mainly due to the 
net unrealized loss from the investment portfolio in investee companies. 
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6. QUARTERLY REVIEW 

 

 
 

6.1 REVIEW OF QUARTERLY FIGURES 

The US Federal Reserve commenced the second stage of its quantitative easing initiative in November 2010, and major financial 
markets reached their highest levels during calendar year 2010 since the outbreak of the financial tsunami in 2008.  The Hong 
Kong stock market remained active as evidenced by extremely large fund raising activities including the listing of AIA Group 
Limited in October 2010.  The earthquake and tsunami in Japan in March 2011 and the resulting nuclear crisis that followed failed 
to have a long lasting impact on the financial markets as a result of the ample liquidity in the markets.  The developed markets 
continued to show strong performance and the US market reached new post financial tsunami highs in late April and early May 
2011.   

However commencing in June 2011, the markets worldwide showed great weakness stemming from concern over the financial 
strength of some of the member states of the European Union, the ability to repay or refinance their sovereign debt and the 
continued viability of the EU.  In Q1 of FY2012, the market was negatively impacted by both the sovereign debt crisis in several 
EU member states and the inability of the government of the United States to deal with its substantial increase in debt and the 
potential failure of the Senate and the House of Representatives in the United States to reach agreement with the Executive Office 
with respect to renewal of the credit limits of the US Government.   In early August 2011, the global financial market dropped 
significantly upon the downgrade of the US credit rating by Standard & Poor’s to one notch below AAA.   

After reaching a three year low in early October 2011, the HSI started to rebound.  The global financial markets then surged after 
the EU leaders agreed on another package of measures to restore the market’s confidence in the economies of the EU member 
states.  The positive trend in the U.S. and European markets continued in Q3 of FY2012 when the U.S. market reached its new 
high since the global financial crisis.      

The European Sovereign Debt crisis continued to negatively impact market sentiment in Q4 of FY2012.  Together with the 
slowdown of the PRC economy, the transaction volume in the Hong Kong stock markets significantly decreased.

Commission Dividend Trading Total Net Net Net
and and (loss)/ revenue (loss)/income (loss)/income (loss)/income

fee income interest income income  for the period for the period for the period
 per share per share

   (fully diluted)

(US$'000) (US$'000) (US$'000) (US$'000) (US$'000) (US$) (US$)

Quarter Ended

June 30, 2012 1,935 606 (2,228) 313 (7,014) (0.0760) (0.0760)

March 31, 2012 1,910 726 678 3,314 (1,465) (0.0159) (0.0159)

December 31, 2011 2,599 798 1,947 5,344 (340) (0.0036) (0.0036)

September 30, 2011 4,020 881 (12,433) (7,532) (7,738) (0.0838) (0.0838)

10,464 3,011 (12,036) 1,439 (16,557)

June 30, 2011 4,171 800 (3,294) 1,677 (4,735) (0.0523) (0.0508)

March 31, 2011 2,828 282 3,097 6,207 (1,150) (0.0127) (0.0110)

December 31, 2010 3,990 305 8,833 13,128 3,590 0.0397 0.0366

September 30, 2010 2,092 386 2,578 5,056 565 0.0063 0.0062

13,081 1,773 11,214 26,068 (1,730)
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6. QUARTERLY REVIEW (CONTINUED) 

6.1 REVIEW OF QUARTERLY FIGURES (CONTINUED) 

Average monthly turnover on the Main Board in Q4 of FY2012 was US$131 billion, compared to US$165 billion, US$157 billion 
and US$195 billion in Q3, Q2 and Q1 of FY2012 respectively and US$179 billion for Q4 of FY2011.  Funds raised from public 
offerings on the Main Board was US$2.6 billion for Q4 of FY2012, compared to US$1 billion, US$8 billion and US$2 billion for Q3, 
Q2 and Q1 of FY2012 respectively and US$20.1 billion for Q4 of FY2011.  

The Group reported revenue of US$0.3 million for Q4 of FY2012, compared to US$1.7 million for Q1 of FY2011.  Net loss 
attributable to the owners of the Company was US$7.0 million in Q4 of FY2012, compared to US$4.7 million in Q4 of FY2011.  
Basic loss per share was US$0.0760 for Q4 of FY2012, compared to US$0.0523 in the same quarter last year. 

 

7. OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

7.1 CAPITAL MARKETS 

 7.1.1 BROKERAGE 

 

Commission and fee income of the brokerage division decreased to US$6.0 million for FY2012 from US$8.3 million for FY2011, 
attributable to the negative sentiment in the Hong Kong market in the current year.  Interest income from margin and IPO 
financings increased to US$1.7 million in FY2012, from US$0.7 million in FY2011, attributable to the growth of the margin lending 
book driven by demand from the Group’s corporate and high net worth clients. 

As discussed in point 5.4 “Other gains/(losses), net” above and in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, an 
impairment loss of other receivable amounted to US$0.4 million was provided in the current year in relation to the HK$40.0 million 
(approximately equivalent to US$5.1 million) deposit placed in an escrow account of the law firm, K&L Gates.   

 

 

 

 

 

In thousands of US$
For the year ended June 30, 2012 2011
Commission and fee income 6,011                8,326                           
Interest income 1,694                747                              
Trading loss (14)                    (36)                              

7,691                9,037                           
Inter-segment revenue 94                     325                              
Other income 3                       2                                  
Selling, general and administrative expenses (10,692)             (10,750)                       
Finance costs (3)                      (39)                              
Other (losses)/gains, net (448)                  66                                
Share of losses of associates (68)                    (24)                              
Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests (3,423)               (1,383)                         

Brokerage
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7. OPERATIONAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) 

7.1.1 BROKERAGE (CONTINUED) 

Selling and administrative expenses decreased to US$10.7 million in FY2012, from US$10.8 million in FY2011.  The decrease 
was mainly attributable to the decrease in commission expenses and variable staff costs which were in line with the decrease in 
operating income in the division, offset by the legal fees and related costs of approximately US$1.0 million in relation to K&L 
Gates’ case charged to the consolidated statement of operation in the current year. 

The overall loss increased to US$3.4 million in FY2012, compared to US$1.4 million in FY2011. 

The Group’s research department hosted the Group’s 3rd Annual Investors Conference in September 2012 and arranged 
meetings with several Hong Kong listed companies and several institutional investors to share the business strategies and latest 
information of our small to medium sized enterprise clients. 

7.1 CAPITAL MARKETS 

 7.1.2 CORPORATE FINANCE & CAPITAL MARKETS 

 

The division encompasses both the equity capital market and corporate finance teams in Hong Kong and Canada.  

The Hong Kong team provides corporate finance services to the small-to-mid cap market in Hong Kong.  The Canadian team 
provides advisory services to a number of clients in both Canada and the PRC.  In particular, the Canadian team advises 
Canadians on investment and joint venture strategies in the PRC and with Chinese companies seeking listings on Canadian 
exchanges and investment in non-PRC entities.  To strengthen the division and to maintain its competitiveness in the market, a 
new corporate finance team was established in Hong Kong in the first quarter of FY2012.   The increased resources are expected 
to address the demand for quality advisory services. 

Commission and fee income of the division decreased to US$4.4 million for FY2012 from US$4.7 million for FY2011.  Several 
listing applicants put off their IPO proposals or scaled down the fundraising sizes during the year.  Although the market is filled 
with negative sentiment, the division was able to take advantage of some windows of optimism.  The division completed the listing 
of Sino Harbour Property on the Main Board in July 2011 and the placing of shares of China Leason in August 2011.  The Group 
was appointed the book runner for the IPO of Noble House (China) Holdings in December 2011. 

Selling and administrative expenses decreased to US$5.1 million for FY2012 from US$5.6 million for FY2011, mainly attributable 
to the decrease in variable staff costs which were in line with the decrease in fee income in the current year.   

The division recorded a loss of US$0.9 million in FY2012, compared to US$0.5 million for FY2011. 

In thousands of US$
For the year ended June 30, 2012 2011
Commission and fee income 4,353                4,746                           
Interest income -                    3                                  
Trading income 2                       (2)                                

4,355                4,747                           
Inter-segment revenue -                    245                              
Other income 22                     3                                  
Selling, general and administrative expenses (5,131)               (5,621)                         
Other (losses)/gains, net (128)                  83                                
Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests (882)                  (543)                            

Corporate Finance & Capital Markets
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7. OPERATIONAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) 

7.2 ASSET MANAGEMENT 

7.2.1 ASSET MANAGEMENT 

 

Commission and fee income of US$0.1 million was recognized in FY2012.  The division was engaged by a fund manager to 
provide investment advisory services in July 2011.  The Group recruited a new fund manager during the year and is looking for 
opportunities to set up small boutique funds for selected high net worth clients. 

In the second half of FY2011, Sunwah International Asset Management (“SIAM”) was formed to act as a global fund platform for 
the “family of funds” model.  Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to US$0.8 million for FY2012, compared to 
US$1.0 million for FY2011.  The division is undergoing a restructuring exercise which led to the reduction in the operation’s scale.      

The division recorded an overall loss of US$0.7 million for FY2012, compared to US$1.0 million for FY2011.  

7.3 STRATEGIC INVESTMENT 

7.3.1 INVESTMENT IN SECURITIES  

 

Trading loss of US$7.2 million was recognized for FY2012, compared to a trading income of US$8.8 million for FY2011, mainly 
attributable to the unrealized mark to market losses in the Group’s investment portfolio.  The portfolio performance was in line with 
the global market performance during the year.  The division invested in several listed debt securities to diversify its investment 
portfolio in FY2011 in order to decrease its holding of large positions in individual stock.  The division reduced its investment 
portfolio in Hong Kong listed shares to finance the acquisition of the office property during the year.  

Selling and administrative expenses decreased to US$0.8 million in FY2012 from US$1.5 million in FY2011, attributable to the 
decrease in variable staff costs as a result of the decrease in operating income in FY2012. 

Overall, a loss of US$6.9 million was recorded for FY2012, compared to an income of US$8.2 million for FY2011.   

 

In thousands of US$
For the year ended June 30, 2012 2011
Commission and fee income 93                     -                              

93                     -                              
Selling, general and administrative expenses (816)                  (1,043)                         
Other loss, net (1)                      -                              
Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests (724)                  (1,043)                         

Asset Management

In thousands of US$
For the year ended June 30, 2012 2011
Dividend income 623                   682                              
Interest income 557                   108                              
Trading (loss)/income (7,210)               8,805                           

(6,030)               9,595                           
Selling, general and administrative expenses (824)                  (1,459)                         
Finance costs -                    (2)                                
Other (losses)/gains, net (34)                    25                                
(Loss)/income before income taxes and non-controlling interests (6,888)               8,159                           

Investment in Securities
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7. OPERATIONAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) 

7.3 STRATEGIC INVESTMENT (CONTINUED) 

7.3.2 STRUCTURED INVESTMENT 

 

The division has mainly invested in several listed securities of natural resources companies, listed securities engaged in provision 
of education services, an investment vehicle engaged in the acquisition and operations of high-end automotive dealerships in the 
PRC and several unlisted private investment funds.   

Trading loss of US$4.8 million was recorded in FY2012, compared to trading income of US$2.4 million in FY2011, mainly 
attributable to the net unrealized mark to market losses on the investment portfolios during the year, which was in line with the 
poor performance of the capital market.   

Included in the trading income was a US$0.1 million gain on disposal of available for sale financial assets recognized during the 
year.  There was no such gain in last year. 

Other gains of US$1.1 million were recorded in FY2012, compared to other losses of US$2.3 million in FY2011.  A fair value gain 
of US$3.4 million on the convertible option derivative component of the Company’s convertible debentures was recognized in 
FY2012, compared to a net loss of US$2.1 million on the net loss on financial derivative liabilities and convertible debentures in 
FY2011. 

Included in other gains in FY2012 was a one-off gain on the deemed partial disposal of an associate of US$0.4 million, resulting 
from the dilution in the Group’s share ownership upon the private placement that took place in an associated company. 

As a result of the weakened Hong Kong equity market, the Group suffered a fair value loss on available for sale investments 
which were acquired in FY2011.  An impairment loss of US$2.7 million was charged to the Group’s consolidated statement of 
operation and included in “Other gains/(losses), net” in FY2012 as the investments were considered impaired.  In FY2011, fair 
value gain of US$0.3 million on these investments was recognized in other comprehensive income. 

The division recorded an overall loss of US$5.8 million in FY2012, compared to US$1.9 million in FY2011.   

In thousands of US$
For the year ended June 30, 2012 2011
Commission and fee income -                    2                                  
Dividend income 68                     186                              
Trading (loss)/income (4,814)               2,447                           

(4,746)               2,635                           
Inter-segment revenue 125                   -                              
Selling, general and administrative expenses (831)                  (969)                            
Finance costs (750)                  (893)                            
Other gains/(losses), net 1,139                (2,283)                         
Share of losses of associates (742)                  (340)                            
Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests (5,805)               (1,850)                         

Structured Investment
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7. OPERATIONAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) 

7.4 CORPORATE AND OTHER ACTIVITIES 

 

The division includes the Group’s technology division which provides development and distribution of computer software and 
hardware services.  It also includes the provision of management, administrative and corporate secretarial services.   

In FY2012, the Group completed the acquisition of an office property in Hong Kong for approximately US$27.8 million and a 
mortgage bank loan of US$13.2 million was drawdown to finance the acquisition of the property. 

Selling and administrative expenses decreased 11% to US$7.3 million in FY2012 from US$8.3 million in FY2011, mainly 
attributable to the recognition of US$2.1 million non-cash compensation costs in relation to the grant of stock options by the 
Company and SWK to several directors, officers and employees of the Group in FY2011.  The decrease in expenses was partially 
offset by the expenses incurred in relation to the relocation of office premises in Hong Kong during the year. 

Other losses of US$0.3 million were recognized in FY2012, compared to a net gain of US$0.3 million in FY2011.  Included in other 
losses in FY2012 was an impairment loss on goodwill in a subsidiary of US$0.4 million.   

The corporate and other activities of the Group incurred an overall loss of US$4.1 million for FY2012, compared to US$3.5 million 
for FY2011. 

 

8.  FINANCIAL AND LIQUIDITY POSITION, CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

8.1 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 

The following table shows the movement in the non-controlling interests: 

 

In thousands of US$
For the year ended June 30, 2012 2011
Commission and fee income 7                       7                                  
Interest income 69                     47                                

76                     54                                
Inter-segment revenue 2,910                3,290                           
Other income 730                   1,123                           
Selling, general and administrative expenses (7,322)               (8,255)                         
Finance costs (165)                  (14)                              
Other (losses)/gains, net (321)                  317                              
Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests (4,092)               (3,485)                         

Corporate and Other Activities

In millions of US$
At June 30, 2011
Dividend to non-controlling interests
Share of loss (5.3)                             
Share of reserves
At June 30, 2012

             

0.1                                                           
23.4                                                         

(1.5)                                                          
30.1                                                         
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8.  FINANCIAL AND LIQUIDITY POSITION, CAPITAL STRUCTURE (CONTINUED) 

8.2 WORKING CAPITAL AND LIQUIDITY 

The Group’s business requires capital for operating and regulatory purposes.  The objective for capital management is to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, to enhance shareholders’ value and to match the funding needs of 
the business.  The Group generally finances its operations from internal resources.   

Senior management of the Group regularly monitors its working capital requirements and considers other means of financing 
including issuance of shares or debentures when necessary, in order to maintain the necessary liquidity. 

The majority of current assets reflected on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position are highly liquid, consisting of 
cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  The majority of the positions held as securities 
owned are readily marketable and all are recorded at their fair value.  The fair value of these securities fluctuates daily as factors 
such as changes in market conditions, economic conditions and investor outlook affect market prices.   

As at June 30, 2012, the liquid resources of the Group consisting of cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss amounted to US$35.1 million, compared to US$68.5 million as at June 30, 2011.  The current portion of 
accounts and other receivables were US$18.7 million as at June 30, 2012, compared to US$40.0 million as at June 30, 2011.    
The liquidity ratio (i.e. current assets/current liabilities) decreased slightly to 3.6 as at June 30, 2012 from 3.7 as at June 30, 2011. 

Total borrowings (including both short-term and long-term payable portions) increased to US$18.7 million as at June 30, 2012, 
compared with US$8.7 million as at June 30, 2011.  The increase in borrowings was mainly due to the new mortgage bank loan 
that was drawdown in the current year to finance the acquisition of an office property in Hong Kong.  As at June 30, 2012, the 
Group’s borrowings were mainly comprised of the liability and financial derivative components of the Company’s convertible 
debentures of US$5.5 million and the bank loan of US$13.2 million. 

As a result of the drawdown of the new mortgage bank loan, the Group’s gearing ratio (i.e. total borrowings/shareholders' equity) 
increased significantly to 40% as at June 30, 2012, from 13% as at June 30, 2011.  This ratio is still within the Group’s target 
range and did not affect the strong liquidity position the Group has enjoyed in the past. 

Significant cash flow changes for FY2012 were as follows:- 

- Net sale of financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss amounted to US$4.6 million; 
- Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders and dividends paid by a subsidiary to non-controlling interests amounted 

to US$0.9 million and US$1.5 million respectively; 
- Purchase of new office property in Hong Kong amounted to US$27.8 million; 
- Purchase of available for sale financial assets amounted to US$1.0 million;  
- Return of capital from an associate of US$1.5 million;  
- Drawdown of mortgage bank loan of US$13.2 million; and 
- Drawdown and repayment of short-term bank loans of US$5.1 million for general working capital. 
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9. COMMITMENTS   

The Group has entered into operating lease agreements and certain other commitments. 

 Amounts payable in future years ending June 30 for operating lease commitments are as follows: 
 

 

 

10. DISCUSSION OF RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES   

10.1 OVERVIEW 

Risk and uncertainty are a constant element facing financial services providers.  As an entity engaged in linking the global 
investment community with China’s economy, the Group is exposed to a wide range of risks and uncertainties that could result in 
financial losses.  The Group’s principal risks are: (i) market risk; (ii) operational risk; and (iii) other risks. 

10.2 RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE  

The Group’s risk management process is comprehensive in scope and relies upon senior management’s knowledge of the 
Group’s business lines and the ability to understand and adjust to market conditions.  The Group’s senior management has 
developed policies and procedures to monitor, assess and control the wide range of risks and uncertainties facing the Group.  
These policies and procedures are periodically reviewed so that the Group’s risk management process can evolve with the ever 
changing financial landscape. 

To monitor the Group’s exposure to risks, it has implemented a series of reporting systems.  These reporting systems cover such 
areas as investment criteria, trading policies, accounting policies and procedures, regulatory compliance and credit monitoring.  
The information provided by these reporting systems allows senior management to mitigate identified risks and uncertainty. 

One method by which the Group mitigates risk is through the adoption of internal controls.  Senior management will adopt and 
implement these internal controls, while the Board, which has an oversight responsibility over the risk management process, 
monitors the effectiveness of these internal controls. 

10.3 MARKET RISK 

The Group’s activities include trading on its own account and thus it is exposed to price risk, liquidity risk and volatility risk.  The 
Company mitigates its risk exposure to these risks through oversight and review of trading activities by senior management and 
the Investment Monitoring Committee (“IMC”) and the implementation of guidelines and policies.  The IMC monitors independently 
the position of the Group’s proprietary trading activities involving equities and derivatives.  Senior management and the Group’s 
Finance Department also monitor the trading results on a daily basis.  Senior management also actively monitors the aging and 
concentration levels.  The liquidity position is also closely monitored by the senior management to ensure the Group maintains a 
prudent and adequate liquidity ratio and ensure the availability of sufficient liquid funds to meet the Group’s  

 

Contractual Obligations Less than 1 year 2 - 3 years 4 - 5 years Total
(US$'000) (US$'000) (US$'000) (US$'000)

Operating Leases 495                                773                                331                                1,599                             
Purchase Obligations 180                                -                                 -                                 180                                

Total Contractual Obligations 675                                773                                331                                1,779                             
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10. DISCUSSION OF RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED) 

10.3 MARKET RISK (CONTINUED) 

obligations and complies with the relevant statutory requirements for various licensed subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and 
for a Canadian subsidiary with Exempt Market Dealer registration.   

The Group’s business activities on lending, settlement, treasury, market making and proprietary trading also expose the Group to 
credit risk where a counterparty may default on its payment obligations.  The credit risk exposure is mitigated through the 
implementation of controls, a variety of limit controls as well as guidelines and policies.  The Finance and Credit Committees in 
Hong Kong establish the credit approval and monitoring procedures with reference to sound business practices and relevant 
ordinances, codes or guidelines issued by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission, where applicable.  These policies 
and guidelines on credit controls include creditworthiness, collateral pledge and risk concentration of counterparties.  The 
Operations Department performs daily management with reference to these control procedures and pre-set guidelines and 
policies.   

In addition, the Company’s focus on linking the global investment community with China means that the Company is exposed to 
risk in several international markets.   

10.4 OPERATIONAL RISK 

Operational risks are an inherent aspect of the Group’s business.  The Group faces the risk of loss from such events as the loss of 
key personnel, employee malpractice and the failure of internal controls.  Operational risks can also rise from natural disasters, 
health hazards and security threats. 

The Group operates in several markets and relies upon its employees and systems to execute transactions and provide advisory 
services.  To mitigate the risk of relying upon its employees, the Group has adopted a system of internal controls, which include 
control procedures for clearing and settlement as well as cash controls through segregation of duties.  The Group also has 
investment review procedures in place.  In addition, the Group has established disaster recovery procedures in the event of 
system or technological failures or natural disasters. 

10.5 OTHER RISKS 

Some of the risks in the “Other Risks” category include:  

i) political, economic and social risks; 

ii) legal risks; and  

iii) reputational risks. 

Since the Group operates in several jurisdictions, it also faces legal risks in these jurisdictions.  To mitigate the legal risks, the 
Group has in-house legal counsel in both Hong Kong and Canada.  Furthermore, the in-house legal counsel is provided with 
access to external legal counsel to assist in addressing legal matters. 

The Group mitigates reputational risk by adhering to a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, adopting socially responsible 
investing and using both in-house and external investor relations programs.   

For a detailed list of the risk factors that are relevant to the Group’s business and the industry in which it operates, see “Risk 
Factors” in the Company’s FY2012 Annual Information Form (“AIF”).  Risks include, but are not necessarily limited to, those listed 
in the AIF.  Investors should carefully consider the information about risks, together with the other information in this document, 
before making investment decisions.  It should be noted that this list is not exhaustive, but contains risks that the Company 
considers to be of particular relevance.  Other risk factors may apply.  
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11. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we make significant estimates and assumptions, mainly concerning values that 
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, net income and related disclosures.  The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Changes to these estimates may result in 
changes to the Group’s results of operations and financial condition.  We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis.  There are 
no new critical accounting estimates or assumptions compared to the information disclosed in the Group’s audited annual financial 
statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011.  The following is a discussion of some of the more significant judgments and 
estimates made by management. 

11.1 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES 

For unlisted investment funds, the fair values are based on the net asset values of the investment funds reported to the Trustee by 
the administrators.  Judgment is required when determining whether the net asset values can reflect the fair value of the financial 
assets.  For unquoted derivatives, the fair value is significantly affected by the combination of the valuation methodologies 
employed, the parameters used and, if required, the underlying sample chosen.  The valuation methodologies adopted by the 
Group is disclosed in note 31(f) to the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2012.  Equity 
securities, which are classified as available for sale, and for which quoted market prices are not available, are carried in the 
financial statements at cost. 

11.2 FAIR VALUE OF CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 

The Company has established a process to ensure the valuation techniques used to establish the fair value of the embedded 
derivatives in the convertible debentures are developed by qualified personnel and are validated and reviewed by personnel 
independent of the area that developed the valuation techniques.  The determination of fair value was made after consideration of 
a number of inputs which require management estimates.  Such inputs include credit and counterparty risk and risk correlations, 
volatility of share prices and dividend yield of the Company.  Management estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically 
and are adjusted if necessary.  Should any of the estimates and assumptions change, the fair value of the embedded derivatives 
in convertible debentures may change. 

11.3 IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES ON LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 

The Group periodically reviews its loan portfolios to assess whether any impairment exist.  In determining whether impairment 
allowances should be recorded in the consolidated statement of operations, the Group has individually evaluated each loan 
account for impairment after taking into account the value of each client account’s underlying collateral and the latest financial 
position of those borrowers in default of settlement. 

11.4 INCOME TAX 

The Group’s tax losses are mainly derived from Hong Kong subsidiaries engaged in proprietary trading activities and a Canadian-
based subsidiary engaged in the provision of financial advisory services to clients in both Canada and the PRC.  At the end of 
each reporting period, after reviewing the performance of the Hong Kong, PRC and Canadian financial markets, management will 
estimate whether there will be any fair value gain on the investment portfolios and secured retainer contracts so as to assess 
whether there will be sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences available.  Future income tax assets will be 
recognized if there is a high probability that future profits or taxable temporary differences are available.  No future income tax 
assets will be recognized if the future profit streams are unpredictable. 
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11. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 

11.5 MONIES HELD IN AN ESCROW ACCOUNT 

As of the reporting date, the Group believes it might not eventually recover the Escrow Funds in full.  However, the management 
of the Group currently considers such eventual outcome is not likely after taking into account the nature of the escrow agreement 
and the opinion of Group’s legal counsel. The detail of other receivable together with management consideration is disclosed in 
note 11 to the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2012.   

 

12. FINANCIAL AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS   

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk, price risk, foreign exchange risk 
and interest rate risk.  The discussions of the risk exposures and the Group’s financial management policies and practices are 
detailed in note 31 to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2012. 

The Group has not entered into any financial guarantees or other commitments to guarantee the payment obligations of any third 
parties. 

 

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS                                                                                                                                                                              

A summary of material related party transactions was included in notes 9, 15, 21 and 35 to the Group’s audited consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2012 which can be obtained from SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  The significant 
related party transactions were carried out in the normal course of the Group’s business. 

 

14. OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA  

As at June 30, 2012, there were 92,364,847 common shares issued and outstanding. The number of Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) 
outstanding as at June 30, 2012 was 1,063,675.  Each DSU entitles the holder subject to certain conditions to exchange it for one 
common share of the Company.   

In FY2007, stock options to subscribe for 2,500,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price of CAD0.70 per share were 
granted to an officer.  Options to subscribe for 1,000,000 shares vested during 2007 were lapsed on November 20, 2011.  The 
1,500,000 unvested stock options were cancelled on January 1, 2009. 

In FY2009, 1,500,000 stock options to subscribe for 1,500,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price of CAD0.80 per 
share were granted to the officer.  The options were vested on January 1, 2009 and will expire on December 31, 2013. 

In December 2010, 7,700,000 stock options to subscribe for 7,700,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price of 
CAD0.55 per share were granted by the Company to several directors, officers and employees of the Group. 7,427,500 stock 
options were vested immediately with the remaining to be vested after 1-3 years. The options will expire on December 15, 2015. 
On September 19, 2011, 2,000,050 stock options which were over-allotted to the Company's directors were cancelled.  During the 
year, 234,450 (2011: 5,000) of the unvested stock options were forfeited. 
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14. OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA (CONTINUED) 

In June 2011, the Company entered into an investor relations consulting agreement with an independent third party for the 
provision of investor relations consulting service to the Company.   In connection with the agreement, 400,000 stock options to 
subscribe for 400,000 common shares of the Company were granted to the service provider.  200,000 stock options are 
exercisable at a price of CAD0.76 per share and 200,000 stock options are exercisable at CAD1.00 per share.  As at June 30, 
2012, the options were vested and will expire on the earlier of May 31, 2013 or the termination of the consulting agreement. 

 

15. FUTURE PROSPECTS  

The Company continues to believe in the strength and the growth of the Chinese economy.  As China develops, it is creating its 
own substantial consumer market.  This consumer market continues to be driven by the increase in urbanization of its population 
and the growth of its middle class.  As a result, China is decreasing its dependence on foreign exports as a key driver of its 
economy.  Exports while continuing in importance are gradually being replaced by domestic demand as a growth driver of the 
Chinese economy.  While the growth of the consumer market in China has not lived up to expectation, we believe that the 
Chinese consumer market will be driven by increased urbanization throughout China. 

The Strategic Investment group established in FY2009 continues to focus on the natural resource sector, in particular mining and 
energy as the Company believes these sectors while important today, will be even more strategic in the future.  While this has 
been a trying year for investors in the natural resource sector we believe that a continued focus on we will continue with this 
emphasis on the natural resources sector is justified as long as we believe in the continued growth of the Chinese economy. 

We continue to believe in the overall strength and diversity of the Chinese economy and its continued growth.  China remains the 
strongest major economy in the world today.  It is, however, not without its problems. The Chinese consumer class will continue to 
grow in number and in wealth; this growth will require access to capital, both domestic and foreign, over the years ahead resulting 
in market growth in sectors targeted by the Group.  However, as markets become increasingly globalized, events affecting both 
the European and the United States capital markets will impact on the Asian markets.  Additionally, as the Company increases its 
investment exposure outside of Hong Kong, albeit in natural resources needed by China, we will be increasingly exposed to both 
the negatives and the positives of the global market place. 

 

16. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

16.1 DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Management has designed disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating 
to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to them by others within those entities, and are disclosed 
in public documents as required.  

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in 
National Instrument 52-109, was conducted by and under the supervision of the Company’s management, including the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the period ended June 30, 2012.  Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as at June 30, 
2012. 
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16. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES (CONTINUED) 

16.2 INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Management has designed and implemented internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. 

The Company’s management has used the Internal Control - Integrated Framework (COSO Framework) published by The 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) to evaluate the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting for the period ended June 30, 2012.  Based on that assessment, the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as at June 30, 2012, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was 
effective. 

There have been no change in the design of the internal controls over financial reporting during the year ended June 30, 2012 that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Group’s internal control over financial reporting.  In 
addition, the Company determined that there has been no material change in internal control over financial reporting as a result of 
the adoption of IFRS. 

The Group’s internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements because of inherent limitations.  
Additionally projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with the Group’s policies and 
procedures. 

 

17. FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES  

There are several new and revised Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective and the Group 
has not early applied for in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2012.  These new and 
revised Standards and Interpretations were disclosed in note 4 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.   

The directors anticipate that the application of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” may have an impact on the amounts reported in 
respect of the Group’s financial assets.  However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a 
detailed review has been completed. 

The directors anticipate that the application of the other new and revised standards and amendments will have no material impact 
on the results and the financial position of the Group. 

 

18. FORWARD-LOOKINGS STATEMENTS  

This document contains “forward-looking statements” as defined under applicable Canadian securities laws. These statements 
include, but are not limited to, statements made in the Business Overview, Market Environment and General Impact on the Group 
and Future Prospects sections and other statements concerning our 2011 objectives, our strategies to achieve those objectives, 
as well as statements with respect to management’s beliefs, plans, estimates, and intentions, and similar statements concerning 
anticipated future events, results, circumstances, performance or expectations that are not historical facts.  Forward-looking 
statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “outlook”, “objective”, “may”, “will”, 
“expect”, “intend”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “should”, “plan” or “continue”, or similar expressions suggesting future 
outcomes or events.  Such forward-looking statements reflect management’s current beliefs and are based on information 
currently available to management. 
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18. FORWARD-LOOKINGS STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those 
described in this document.  The Group’s primary business activities are both competitive and subject to various risks.  These 
risks include market, credit, liquidity, operational and legal and regulatory risks and other risk factors including, without limitation, 
variations in the market value of securities, the volatility and liquidity of equity trading markets, the volume of new financings and 
mergers and acquisitions (“M&A”), competition in the marketplace for suitable investments, sustainability of fees, nature and type 
of portfolio company investments and dependence on key personnel.  Other factors, such as general economic conditions, 
including interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations, may also have an effect on the Group’s results of operations.  Many of 
these risks and uncertainties can affect our actual results and could cause our actual results to differ materially from those 
expressed or implied in any forward-looking statement made by us or on our behalf.  For a description of additional risks that could 
cause our actual results to materially differ from our current expectations, please see the “Discussion of Risks and Uncertainties” 
section in this MD&A.  Material assumptions or factors underlying the forward-looking statements contained in this document are 
set out in the “Market Environment and General Impact on the Group” section in this MD&A.  Although forward-looking information 
contained in this MD&A is based upon what management believes are reasonable assumptions, there can be no assurance that 
actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements.  Certain statements included in this MD&A may be 
considered a “financial outlook” for purposes of applicable Canadian securities laws, and as such the financial outlook may not be 
appropriate for purposes other than this MD&A.  The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are made as of the date 
of this MD&A, and should not be relied upon as representing the Group’s views as of any date subsequent to the date of this 
MD&A. 

Except as required by applicable law, management and the board of directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”) 
undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise. 

 

19. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

Additional information relating to the Company including the Company’s Annual Information Form may be obtained from SEDAR 
at www.sedar.com. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  

 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sunwah International Limited have been prepared by Management 
of the Company in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Management maintains a system of internal accounting controls to provide reasonable assurance that the Company's assets 
are safeguarded and to facilitate the preparation of relevant, reliable and timely financial information.  The Company's overall 
controls include an organizational structure providing for effective segregation of responsibilities, delegation of authority and 
personal accountability, written communication of policies and procedures of corporate conduct throughout the Company 
and careful selection and training of personnel; the regular updating and application of written accounting and administrative 
policies and procedures necessary to ensure adequate internal control over transactions, assets and records. 
 
The consolidated financial statements necessarily include amounts based on informed judgements and estimates of the 
expected effects of current events and transactions with appropriate consideration to materiality.  The Board of Directors 
oversees Management's responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements through the Audit Committee, which is 
composed solely of directors who are not officers or employees of the Company.  The Audit Committee meets four times per 
year at a minimum.  Each year it reviews the adequacy of internal controls and discusses with the Shareholders' auditors the 
overall scope, timing and specific plans for their respective audits.  The Audit Committee reviews with Management and the 
Shareholders' auditors the content and format of the Company's consolidated financial statements.  As part of this process it 
reviews the adoption of and changes in accounting principles and practices that have a material effect on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements and key management estimates and judgements material to those statements.  The Audit 
Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval by Sunwah International Limited, the engagement or re-
appointment of the Shareholders' auditors. 
 
The Board has approved the consolidated financial statements.  External auditors appointed by the Shareholders have 
examined the consolidated financial statements and their report follows.  All other financial and operating data included in the 
annual report are consistent, where appropriate, with information contained in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Douglas C. Betts Eric K.K. Chan 
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 
 
September 18, 2012 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of Sunwah International Limited 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sunwah International Limited and its subsidiaries, 
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2012, June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2010, and 
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and 
consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management of the Company is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits and to report our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audits 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.  

  
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at June 
30, 2012, June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2010, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 
2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
Certified Public Accountants 
Hong Kong 
 
September 18, 2012 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT JUNE 30, 2012  
  June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 

 Note US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Property and equipment 7 31,710 2,178 2,344 

Intangible assets 8 299 678 665 

Interests in associates 9 3,125 4,899 3,989 

Available for sale financial assets 

 

 

 

10 7,352 7,222 3,792 

Other receivable 11 4,679 - - 

Other financial assets 12 964 1,447 1,250 

  48,129 16,424 12,040 

Current assets     

Available for sale financial assets 10 1,385 3,551 - 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13 16,670 33,761 44,853 

Accounts and other receivables 14 18,723 40,007 45,824 

Loans to associates 9 277 - - 

Amounts due from related parties 15 1,097 1,005 695 

Cash and cash equivalents 16 18,420 34,758 33,255 

  56,572 113,082 124,627 

LIABILITIES     

Current liabilities     

Accruals, accounts and other payables 17 14,878 26,159 48,896 

Bank loans 18 - - 97 

Financial derivative liabilities 19 705 4,235 239 

Obligations under finance leases  - 6 81 

Current taxation  276 288 215 

  15,859 30,688 49,528 
     

Non-current liabilities     

Non-current obligations under finance leases  - - 6 

Bank loan 18 13,205 - 420 

Convertible debentures 19 4,833 4,429 6,588 

Deferred tax liabilities 20 130 32 39 

  18,168 4,461 7,053 

NET ASSETS  70,674 94,357 80,086 
     

CAPITAL AND RESERVES     

Capital stock 21 6,523 6,523 6,442 

Other reserves  54,911 54,752 51,850 

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings  (14,177) 3,010 3,944 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  47,257 64,285 62,236 

Non-controlling interests  23,417 30,072 17,850 

TOTAL EQUITY  70,674 94,357 80,086 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011  
 

   
   

  2012 2011 

 Note US$(‘000) US$ (‘000) 

Revenue    

Net (loss)/gain on disposal of financial assets/liabilities at fair    

 value through profit or loss and remeasurement to fair value 22 (12,100) 11,214 

Gain on disposal of available for sale financial assets 22 64 - 

Commission and fee income 22 10,464 13,081 

Interest and dividend income 22 3,011 1,773 

  1,439 26,068 

Other income 23 755 1,128 

  2,194 27,196 

Operating expenses    

Commission expenses  (2,517) (2,190) 

General and administrative expenses  (19,970) (22,047) 

Finance costs 24 (918) (948) 

  (21,211) 2,011 

Other gains/(losses), net 25 207 (1,792) 

Share of losses of associates  (810) (364) 

Loss before tax  (21,814) (145) 

Income tax expense 26 (98) (87) 

Loss for the year 27 (21,912) (232) 

    

Attributable to:    

Owners of the Company  (16,557) (1,730) 

Non-controlling interests  (5,355) 1,498 

Loss for the year  (21,912) (232) 

        

  US$ US$ 

Basic loss per share 28 (0.1793) (0.0190) 

    Diluted loss per share 28    N/A N/A 

       

 

 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSES)/INCOME 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011 
 
   
   

  2012 2011 

  US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

     

Loss for the year  (21,912) (232) 

Other comprehensive (expenses)/income:    

Exchange differences arising on translation of financial     

statements of overseas subsidiaries  (94) (24) 

Fair value changes on available for sale financial assets  (2,812) 371 

Reclassification upon impairment of available for sale financial assets  2,662 - 

Reclassification adjustments relating to available for sale     

financial assets disposed of during the year   (3) - 

Share of reserves of an associate  102 - 

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  (145) 347 

        Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  (22,057) 115 

    Total comprehensive (expense)/income attributable to:    

Owners of the Company  (16,702) (1,434) 

Non-controlling interests  (5,355) 1,549 

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  (22,057) 115 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011  

 Attributable to owners of the Company   
                     

Capital 
stock 

            Share 
premium 

         
Contributed 

surplus 

Foreign 
Exchange 

reserve 

Investment 
revaluation     

reserve 

       Warrants 
reserve 

       Retained 
earnings 

 

Total                                                       

      Non-
controlling 

interests 

 

Total 

 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

As at July 1, 2011 6,523 51,286 3,165 7 292 2 3,010 64,285 30,072 94,357 
Loss for the year - - - - - - (16,557) (16,557) (5,355) (21,912) 
Exchange differences arising on translation of 

    

   

          
financial statements of overseas subsidiaries - - - (94) - - - (94) - (94) 

Fair value changes on available for sale financial assets - - - - (2,812) - - (2,812) - (2,812) 
Reclassification upon impairment of available for sale financial assets - - - - 2,662 - - 2,662 - 2,662 

Reclassification adjustments relating to available for           

sale financial assets disposed of during the year - - - - (3) - - (3) - (3) 

Share of reserves of an associate - - 42 60 - - - 102 - 102 

Total comprehensive expenses for the year 

 

- - 42 (34) (153) - (16,557) (16,702) (5,355) (22,057) 

Capital injection to a subsidiary - - - - - - - - 87 87 

Share of reserves by non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 92 92 

Return of capital to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (16) (16) 

Dividends (Note 29) - - - - - - (901) (901) (1,463) (2,364) 

Dividends paid on stock based compensation - - 8 - - - (8) - - - 

Stock based compensation charged - - 298 - - - 277 575 - 575 

Warrants lapsed - - - - - (2) 2 - - - 

As at June 30, 2012 6,523 51,286 3,513 (27) 139 - (14,177) 47,257 23,417 70,674 
           

As at July 1, 2010 6,442 50,193 1,657 - - - 3,944 62,236 17,850 80,086 

(Loss)/profit for the year - - - - - - (1,730) (1,730) 1,498 (232) 

Exchange differences arising on translation of            
financial statements of overseas subsidiaries           

 

- - - 4 - - - 4 (28) (24) 

Fair value changes on available for sale financial assets - - - - 292 - - 292 79 371 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

    

- - - 4 292 - (1,730) (1,434) 1,549 115 

Capital injection to a subsidiary - - - - - - - - 270 270 

Return of capital to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (37) (37) 

Dividends (Note 29) - - - - - - (1,821) (1,821) (1,288) (3,109) 

Dividends paid on stock based compensation - - 17 - - - - 17 - 17 

Issue of shares through exercising of stock options (note 20(a)) 8 132 (140) - - - - - - - 

Issue of shares from conversion of convertible debentures (note 20(b)) 73 961 - - - - - 1,034 - 1,034 

Stock based compensation charged - - 2,152 - - - - 2,152 - 2,152 

Placement of shares by a subsidiary (Note 30) - - (521) 3 - 2 2,617 2,101 11,728 13,829 

As at June 30, 2011 6,523 51,286 3,165 7 292 2 3,010 64,285 30,072 94,357 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 



  

31 

 

SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011   2012 2011 
 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Loss before tax (21,814) (145) 
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of financial assets/liabilities at fair value through 

 

  
profit or loss and remeasurement to fair value 12,100 (11,214) 

 

 

 

Gain on disposal of available for sale financial assets (64) - 
Depreciation of property and equipment 328 337 
(Gain)/loss on fair value changes on financial derivative liabilities (3,350) 2,083 
Share of losses of associates 810 364 
Gain on deemed partial disposal of an associate (395) - 
Provision for (write back of) impairment losses of receivables 539 (285) 
Impairment loss on goodwill 380 - 
Impairment loss on available for sale financial assets 2,740 - 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 27 1 
Interest on convertible debentures 750 893 
Stock-based compensation 780 2,426 
Dividend received from an available for sale asset (68) (186) 
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (141) (244) 

 (7,378) (5,970) 
Net sale of financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4,615 22,679 
Income taxes paid (12) (21) 
Changes in operating working capital 4,540 (17,141) 

 1,765 (453) 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Advances from non-controlling interests 87 270 
Dividends paid by a subsidiary to non-controlling interests (1,463) (1,288) 
Dividends paid (901) (1,805) 
Repayment of bank loans, unsecured (5,128) (13,226) 
Drawdown of bank loans, unsecured 5,128 13,226 
Repayment of bank loans, secured - (7,568) 
Drawdown of bank loans, secured 13,205 7,051 
Repurchase of convertible debentures - (484) 
Payment of convertible debentures interests (30) (368) 
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (7) (81) 
Return of capital to non-controlling interests of a liquidated subsidiary (16) - 
Issuance of common shares and warrants in a subsidiary to non-controlling interests - 13,568 

 10,875 9,295 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Purchase of property and equipment (29,314) (167) 
Purchase of available for sale financial assets (1,021) (6,609) 
Dividend received from an available for sale financial assets 68 186 
Proceeds from disposal of available for sale financial assets 150 - 
Acquisition of interests in associates - (1,270) 
Acquisition of shares in a subsidiary - (50) 
Loans to associates (281) - 
Return of capital from an associate 1,462 - 

 (28,936) (7,910) 
Effect of foreign currency changes (42) 571 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (16,338) 1,503 
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of the year 34,758 33,255 

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of the year 18,420 34,758 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011  
 
1 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS 
 

Sunwah International Limited (the “Company”) is an investment holding company originally incorporated under the 
Companies Act of the Province of British Columbia and then continued in Bermuda and is listed on the main board of 
the Toronto Stock Exchange with symbol “SWH”.  A substantial part of the operations of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) is conducted through a subsidiary, Sunwah Kingsway Capital 
Holdings Limited (“SWK”), which is based in Hong Kong and listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.  
SWK and its subsidiaries' main activities include investment in securities, structured investment, brokerage, corporate 
finance & capital markets and asset management.  The details of its significant subsidiaries are set up in note 33. 
 
The registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.  The 
head office of the Company is located at 7/F., Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong.  
 
 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
(a) Statement of Compliance 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated financial 
statements are the Company’s first annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and 
IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”, which the Company adopted on July 1, 
2010. Prior to the transition to IFRS, the Company prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). 
 
An explanation of how the transition to IFRSs has affected the reported financial position and financial performance 
of the Company is provided in note 5 – “First-time adoption of IFRS” below.   
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors for issue on September [26], 
2012. 

 
 

(b) Basis of Measurement 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for available for 
sale financial assets, financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and financial derivative liabilities 
that are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies below.  Historical cost is generally based on 
the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for services. 

 
 

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency 
 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“US$”), which is the functional 
currency of the Company.  All financial information presented in United States dollars has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand, unless otherwise specified. 

  
 

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the consolidated 
financial statements and in preparing the IFRS statements of financial position as at July 1, 2010 for the purposes of 
the transition to IFRSs, subject to certain transition elections as disclosed in note 5. 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011  
 
3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(a) Basis of Consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company (its subsidiaries).  Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

 
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated statement of 
operations from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with those used by other members of the Group. 
 
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein. 
 
Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling interests 

 
Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
 
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries 
 
Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions.  The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary.  Any difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid 
or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 
 
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest 
determined and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 
and any non-controlling interests.  Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or fair 
values and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognized in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or 
loss or transferred directly to retained earnings).  The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary 
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under 
IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of 
an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity. 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011  
 
3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
 

(b) Business Combination 
 
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of acquisition-date fair values of the 
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity 
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.  Acquisition-related costs are recognized in 
the statement of operations as incurred.   
 
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair values at 
the acquisition date, except that: 
 
 
– deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are 

recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes” and IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” 
respectively; 
  

– liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement 
of an acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with share-based payment transactions of the Group are 
measured in accordance with IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date; and 
 

– assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that Standard. 

 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.  If, after 
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immediately 
in the statement of operations as a bargain purchase gain. 
 
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.  Other types of non-controlling interests are 
measured at their fair value or another measurement basis required by another Standard. 
 
Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination.  Changes in the fair value 
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with 
the corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.  Measurement period 
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the measurement period about 
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.  Measurement period does not exceed one year 
from the acquisition date. 
 
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.  Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity.  Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets”, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011  
 
3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
 

(b) Business Combination (continued) 
 
Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain 
or loss, if any, is recognized in the statement of operations.  Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to 
the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit 
or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest was disposal of. 
 
Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest recognized in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains control 
over the acquiree. 
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.  
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or 
liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized as of that date. 

 
(c) Goodwill 

 
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at date of acquisition of the 
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented separately in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s Cash-Generating Units (“CGUs”) 
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 
 
A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is 
indication that the unit may be impaired.  For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU to 
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.  If the 
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on 
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.  Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in 
profit or loss in the consolidated income statement.  An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in 
subsequent periods. 
 
On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount 
of profit or loss on disposal. 
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(d) Investment in Associates 

 
An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 
interest in a joint venture.  Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 
 
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting.  Under the equity method, investments in the associates are initially recognized in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates.  When the Group’s share of losses of an associate 
equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part 
of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses.  
Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate. 
 
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities of an associate recognized at the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill, which is 
included within the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in the profit or loss. 
 
The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment loss with 
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.  When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment 
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by 
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount.  
Any impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.  Any reversal of that 
impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 
investment subsequently increases. 
 
Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group losing significant influence over that associate, any retained 
investment is measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition 
as a financial asset in accordance with IAS 39.  The difference between the previous carrying amount of the 
associate attributable to the retained interest and its fair value is included in the determination of the gain or loss on 
disposal of the associate.  In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate had 
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.  Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets 
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) 
when it loses significant influence over that associate. 
 
When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the 
associate are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the 
associate that are not related to the Group. 
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(e) Investment in Jointly Controlled Entities 

 
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity 
that is subject to joint control (i.e. when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities 
of the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control). 
 
When a group entity undertakes its joint venture arrangements directly, the Group’s share of jointly controlled assets 
and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are recognized in the financial statements of the relevant 
entity and classified according to their nature.  Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect of interests in 
jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an accrual basis.  Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of 
the output of jointly controlled assets, and its share of joint venture expenses, are recognized when it is probable 
that the economic benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the Group and their amount can be 
measured reliably. 
 
Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venture has an interest 
are referred to as jointly controlled entities. 
 
The Group reports its interests in jointly controlled entities using proportionate consolidation, except when the 
investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.  The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses of jointly controlled entities are combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated financial 
statements on a line-by-line basis. 
 
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising in a business combination. 
 
When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with 
the jointly controlled entity are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of 
interests in the jointly controlled entity that are not related to the Group. 
 
 

(f) Intangible Assets 
 
The trading rights of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, the B-Shares Special Seat of Shenzhen Stock Exchange, 
the B-Shares Tangible Trading Seat of Shanghai Stock Exchange and non-redeemable club memberships have 
indefinite useful lives and are recognized as intangible assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.  
They are carried at cost less impairment losses (see note 3(k)) and are tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may be impaired by comparing their recoverable amounts 
with their carrying amounts. 
 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of operations in the 
period when the asset is derecognized. 
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(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents  

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks, and short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.  Bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a 
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows. 
 
 

(h) Financial Instruments  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position when a 
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value.  Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition.  Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in the statement of operations. 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three categories, including financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and available for sale (“AFS”) financial assets.  The 
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date 
basis.  Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as 
FVTPL.  A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the near future, or it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as 
a hedging instrument. 
 
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition 
if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise, or the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is 
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis, or it 
forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire combined 
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement 
recognized directly in the statement of operations in the period in which they arise.  The net gain or loss recognized 
in the statement of operations excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets. 
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(h) Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market.  Loans and receivables mainly comprise accounts and other receivables, loans to associates, 
secured margin loans, secured loans, deposits, bank balances and cash and are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses, unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial.  In such 
case, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. 
 
AFS financial assets 
 
AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not classified as loans and receivables or 
financial assets at FVTPL or held-to-maturity investments. 
 
AFS financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.  Changes in fair value are 
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, until the 
financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
For AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot 
be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity 
instruments, they are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting 
period.  Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets 
have been affected. 
 
For an AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is 
considered to be objective evidence of impairment.  For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment 
could include significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty, or breach of contract, such as default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, or it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or 
financial re-organization, or the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties. 
 
For accounts and loans receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently 
assessed for impairment on a collective basis.  Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could 
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, as well as observable changes in national or local 
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of operations when 
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. 
 
For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market 
rate of return for a similar financial asset.  Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods. 
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(h) Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of accounts and loans receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in the statement of 
operations.  When an account or loan receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance 
account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. 
 
For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses was 
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would 
have been had the impairment not been recognized. 
 
Impairment losses on AFS equity investments will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.  Any 
increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is recognized directly in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve.  For AFS debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently 
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
recognition of the impairment loss. 
 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.  An equity 
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 
liabilities.  The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified into financial liabilities at FVTPL and other 
financial liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 
 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL has two subcategories, including financial liabilities held for trading and those 
designated at FVTPL on initial recognition.  A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it has been incurred 
principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future, or it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial 
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or it is a 
derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 
 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on remeasurement 
recognized directly in the statement of operations in the period in which they arise.  The net gain or loss recognized 
in the statement of operations excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities. 
 
Convertible debentures 
 
Convertible debentures issued by the Company that contain a liability component, conversion option derivative 
component and redemption option derivative component are classified separately into their respective items on 
initial recognition.  A conversion option that will be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or 
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’ own equity instruments is a conversion option derivative.  
At the date of issue, the liability, conversion option derivative and redemption option derivative components are 
recognized at fair value.  In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible debentures is carried at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.  The conversion option derivative and the redemption option 
derivative are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations. 
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(h) Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)  
 
Other financial liabilities 
 
Other financial liabilities (including bank loans and accounts and other payables) are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial.  In such 
case, the liabilities are stated at cost. 
 
Derecognition 
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial 
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial assets. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum 
of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of 
the financial asset between the part it continues to recognize under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer 
recognizes on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer.  The difference between 
the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognized and the sum of the consideration received for 
the part no longer recognized and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognized in other 
comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss.  A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in other 
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognized and the part that is no longer 
recognized on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts. 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expires.  The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss. 
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(i) Property and Equipment 

 
Property and equipment including land and buildings held for own use, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of 
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is 
recognized in the statement of operations. 
 
Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost or fair value of property and equipment less their residual 
values, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Property : Shorter of the remaining lease terms or 50 years 
Leasehold improvements : Shorter of the unexpired lease terms or 5 years 
Furniture and fixtures : 5 years 
Office equipment : 5 years 
Motor vehicles : 5 years 
 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. 
 
 

(j) Leasing 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
The Group as lessor 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
The Group as lessee 
 
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
asset are consumed.  Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred. 
 
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a 
liability.  The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased asset are consumed. 
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(k) Impairment Losses on Tangible and Intangible Assets Other Than Goodwill 

 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.  In 
addition, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment annually, and whenever there is indication that they may be impaired. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  When it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.  When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, 
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the 
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  If the recoverable amount of an asset is 
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.  
An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.  A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognized as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount under another standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
increase under that standard. 
 

(l) Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts 
receivable for services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.  Income 
is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations on the following basis: 
 
Brokerage and commission income is recognized on a trade date basis when the relevant transactions are executed 
and related services are provided.  Underwriting and sub-underwriting commission is recognized once the 
corresponding underwriting exposure has ceased.  Corporate finance advisory, asset management, loan 
arrangement, secretarial and other service fees are recognized upon such services being rendered. 
 
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the effective interest method. 
 
Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been 
established. 
 
Payments received under operating leases net of any incentives paid to the lessee are recognized as rental income 
on a straight-line basis. 
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(m) Employee Benefits 

 
(i) Employee leave entitlements 
 

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees.  An accrual is made for 
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the 
reporting period.  Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognized until the time of 
leave. 

 
(ii) Bonus plans 
 

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognized as a liability when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation 
can be made.  Liabilities for bonus payments are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at 
the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled. 
 

(iii) Defined contribution pension plan obligations 
 

The Group operates a defined-contribution pension scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the rules and regulations of 
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance.  The assets of the MPF Scheme are 
held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.  Payments to the MPF Scheme 
are charged as expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions and are 
reduced by contributions forfeited, if applicable, by those employees who leave the scheme prior to the 
contributions become fully vested. 

 
(iv) Equity-settled share-based payments transactions 
 

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the grant 
date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity 
(contributed surplus).  At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of 
options that are expected to ultimately vest.  The impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, 
if any, is recognized in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus.  For share options 
that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the options granted is expensed immediately to the 
statement of operations. 
 
At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognized in contributed surplus will 
be transferred to share premium.  When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognized in share options reserve will be transferred to 
retained earnings. 

 
Under the Company’s Deferred Shares Unit (“DSU”) plan, on the date directors’ fees are payable, the number of 
DSUs to be awarded to a participant is determined by dividing the amount of the fees payable by way of DSUs 
by the market value of a common share on the Toronto Stock Exchange.  The amount of directors’ fees payable, 
which represents the fair value of the DSUs awarded, is charged to the statement of operations in the period of 
grant. 
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(n) Taxation 

 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences.  Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 
be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.  Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences 
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognized 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the deferred tax is also recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 
 
 

(o) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that the Group will be required to settle the obligation.  Provision are measured at the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect is 
material). 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(p) Foreign Currencies 

 
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency at the rates 
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.  At the end of the reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.  Non-monetary items carried 
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the 
fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences arising on a monetary 
item that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange 
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.  Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange differences 
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognized directly in 
other comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange differences are also recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into the presentation 
currency of the Group at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income and 
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.  Exchange differences arising, if any, are 
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity in exchange reserve. 
 
On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that 
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.  In addition, in relation to a 
partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate 
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognized in 
profit or loss.  For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities that do 
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated 
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss. 
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4 NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS IN ISSUES BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE  

 
The Group has not early applied the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations that have been issued 
but are not yet effective. 
 
 IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” 

 
In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” to replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement”.  IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is 
measured at amortized cost or fair value, and replaces the multiple rules in IAS 39.  The approach in IFRS 9 
focuses on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model, as well as the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.  The new standard also requires a single impairment 
method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods currently provided in IAS 39.  IFRS 9 is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015, with earlier application permitted. 
 

 IFRS 10, “Consolidation” 
 
IFRS 10, “Consolidation” replaces SIC-12, “Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities” and parts of IAS 27, 
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”.  IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when 
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee.  The standards are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted. 
 

 IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements” 
 
IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, “Interests in Joint Ventures”, and SIC-13, “Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-
monetary Contributions by Venturers”.  IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement 
as a joint venture or joint operation.  Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting 
whereas, for a joint operation, the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses of the joint operation.  The standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013, with earlier application permitted. 
 

 IFRS 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” 
 
IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, equity 
accounted investments, special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles.  The standard introduces 
additional disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in 
other entities.  The standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier 
application permitted. 
 

 IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement” 
 
IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard that defines fair value, sets out a single IFRS framework for measuring 
fair value, and requires disclosures about fair value measurements.  This new standard clarifies that fair value is 
the price that would be received to sell an asset, or be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants, at the measurement date.  The standard also establishes disclosures about fair 
value measurement.  The standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with 
earlier application permitted. 
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4 NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS IN ISSUES BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED) 

 
 Amendments to Other Standards 

 
The IASB have made amendments to existing standards, including IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”, 
IAS 19, “Employee Benefits”, IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”, IAS 28, “Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures”, IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and IAS 32, “Financial 
Instruments: Presentation”. 
 
The amendments to IAS 1 will require that entities group items presented in other comprehensive income based 
on an assessment of whether such items may or may not, be reclassified to earnings at a subsequent date.  
Amendments to IAS 1 are applicable to annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, with early adoption 
permitted. 
 
Amendments to IAS 19 eliminate an entity’s option to defer the recognition of certain gains and losses related to 
post employment benefits and require remeasurement of associated assets and liabilities in other 
comprehensive income.  Amendments to IAS 19 are applicable on a modified retrospective basis to annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. 
 
The amended IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-
consolidated financial statements.  IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to 
address the changes in IFRS 10 to 13 as described above.  Amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 are applicable to 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. 
 
The amendments to IFRS 7 require the disclosure of information that will enable users of an entity’s financial 
statements to evaluate the effect, or potential effect, of offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities, to the 
entity’s financial position.  Amendments to IFRS 7 are applicable to annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2013, with retrospective application required. 
 
Amendments to IAS 32 clarify the criteria that should be considered in determining whether an entity has a 
legally enforceable right of set off in respect of its financial instruments. Amendments to IAS 32 are applicable to 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with retrospective application required.  Early adoption is 
permitted. 
 

The directors anticipate that the application of IFRS 9 may have impact on the amounts reported in respect of the 
Group’s financial assets.  However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed 
review has been completed. 

 
The directors anticipate that the application of the other new and revised standards and amendments will have no 
material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group. 
 

 
5 FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS 
 

The February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board confirmed the changeover date for the convergence of Canadian 
GAAP with IFRS in 2011.  The Group adopted IFRS in its consolidated financial statements effective July 1, 2011.  
The Company’s date of transition to IFRSs was July 1, 2010 (“Transition Date”), and the Company has prepared its 
IFRS opening consolidated statement of financial position as at that date.  The effect of the Company’s transition from 
Canadian GAAP to IFRS is set out in the following reconciliations and the notes that accompany the reconciliations. 
 
The Company has applied the provisions of IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of IFRS” in preparing these unaudited interim 
condensed consolidated financial statements.  IFRS 1 provides the framework for the first-time adoption of IFRS and 
specifies that, in general, an entity shall apply the principles under IFRS retrospectively.  IFRS 1 also specifies that the 
adjustments that arise on retrospective conversion to IFRS from Canadian GAAP should be directly recognized in 
retained earnings. Certain mandatory exceptions and option exemptions for retrospective application are provided 
under IFRS 1. 
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5 FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (CONTINUED) 

 
The Company has applied the following exemptions to its opening consolidated statement of financial position as at 
the Transition Date: 

 
 Business Combinations 

 
IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter to apply IFRS 3, “Business Combinations” either retrospectively or 
prospectively to business combinations that occurred before the Transition Date.  The Company elected to adopt 
IFRS 3 prospectively, and only business combinations that occur on or after July 1, 2010 will be accounted for in 
accordance with IFRS 3.   

 
 Cumulative Foreign Currency Translation Differences 

 
The Company elected to deem the cumulative foreign currency translation differences in respect of all foreign 
operations that arose prior to the Transition Date as zero and absorbed the balance into the retained earnings. 
 

  Share Based Compensation 
 
The Company elected not to apply IFRS 2, “Share-based payments” for equity instruments granted (i) on or 
before November 7, 2002; or (ii) after November 7, 2002 and vested before the Transition Date. 

 
 Assets and Liabilities of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures 

 
The Company elected to measure in the consolidated financial statements the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, associate and joint venture at the same carrying amounts as in the financial statements of the 
subsidiaries, associate and joint venture, after adjusting for consolidation and equity accounting adjustments and 
for the effects of the business combination in which the entity acquired the subsidiary. 

 
The following tables reconcile (i) the consolidated equity as at July 1, 2010 and June 30, 2011; and (ii) the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for the year ended June 30, 2011, as previously 
prepared under the Canadian GAAP to the corresponding consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance 
with IFRS. 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
RECONCILIATION OF CANADIAN GAAP CONSOLIDATED EQUITY AS AT JULY 1, 2010 TO IFRS 
 

As at July 1, 2010  IFRS Transition Adjustment 

  

 
     Consolidated &  
     Separate  
  Joint Impairment of Foreign Currency Financial  
In US$ (‘000) Canadian GAAP Ventures Assets Translation Statements IFRS 

Notes  (a) (b) (c) (d)  

Equity       

Capital stock 6,442 - - - - 6,442 

Share premium 50,193 - - - - 50,193 

Contributed surplus 1,657 - - - - 1,657 

Foreign exchange reserve 1,156 - - (1,156) - - 

Retained earnings 2,367 369 52 1,156 - 3,944 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 61,815 369 52 - - 62,236 

Non-controlling interest 18,008 (176) 18 - - 17,850 

Total equity 79,823 193 70 - - 80,086 
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RECONCILIATION OF CANADIAN GAAP CONSOLIDATED EQUITY AS AT JUNE 30, 2011 TO IFRS 
 

As at June 30, 2011  IFRS Transition Adjustment 

  

 
     Consolidated &  
     Separate  
  Joint Impairment of Foreign Currency Financial  
In US$ (‘000) Canadian GAAP Ventures Assets Translation Statements IFRS 

Notes  (a) (b) (c) (d)  

Equity       

Capital stock 6,523 - - - - 6,523 

Share premium 51,286 - - - - 51,286 

Contributed surplus 3,165 - - - - 3,165 

Foreign exchange reserve 1,191 - - (1,156) (28) 7 

Investment revaluation reserve 292 - - - - 292 

Warrants reserve 2 - - - - 2 

Retained earnings 1,437 370 52 1,156 (5) 3,010 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 63,896 370 52 - (33) 64,285 

Non-controlling interest 30,197 (176) 18 - 33 30,072 

Total equity 94,093 194 70 - - 94,357 
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SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
RECONCILIATION OF CANADIAN GAAP CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 TO IFRS 
 

Year ended June 30, 2011  IFRS Transition Adjustments  
    Consolidated 

 
 

    Separate  
 Canadian  Joint Financial  
In US$ (‘000) GAAP Reclassification Ventures Statements IFRS 

Notes   (a) (d)  

Revenue      

Net gain on disposal of financial assets/      
liabilities at fair value through      
profit or loss and remeasurement      
to fair value 11,214 - - - 11,214 

Commission and fee income 14,132 (1,051) - - 13,081 

Interest and dividend income 1,773 - - - 1,773 

 27,119 (1,051) - - 26,068 

Other income 365 763 - - 1,128 

 27,484 (288) - - 27,196 

Operating expenses      

Commission expenses - (2,190) - - (2,190) 

General and administrative expenses (23,897) 1,847 3 - (22,047) 

Amortization of property and equipment (337) 337 - - - 

Loss on fair value changes on       
financial derivative liabilities (2,083) 2,083 - - - 

Gain on deemed partial disposal of a subsidiary 2,622 - - (2,622) - 

Loss on disposal of property and equipment (1) 1 - - - 

Finance costs (948) - - - (948) 

 2.840 1,790 3 (2,622) 2,011 

Other losses, net -   (1,790) (2) - (1,792) 

Share of losses of associates (364) - - - (364) 

Profit before tax and non-controlling interests  2,476 - 1 (2,622) (145) 

Income tax expense (87) - - - (87) 

Profit before non-controlling interests  2,389 - 1 (2,622) (232) 

Non-controlling interests (1,498) - - - (1,498) 

Profit for the year 891 - 1 (2,622) (1,730) 

 
 

Other comprehensive income      

Foreign currency translation adjustment 4 - - - 4 

Fair value changes on available for sale financial       
assets 292 - - -  292 

Comprehensive income for the year 1,187 - 1 (2,622) (1,434) 
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5 FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (CONTINUED) 
 

Notes to the reconciliation of equity and reconciliation of statements of operations and comprehensive income 
 
(a) Joint Ventures 

 
Under Canadian GAAP, jointly controlled entities were accounted for by the Company using proportionate 
consolidation, showing its share of the respective assets and liabilities on the relevant lines of the Group’s 
consolidated statement of financial position.  IFRS allows investments in joint ventures to be accounted for using 
either proportionate consolidation or equity method of accounting.   
 
Upon the transition to IFRS, the Company has elected to use the equity method of accounting for its investments in 
jointly controlled entities that were previously proportionately consolidated.  As at the Transition Date, jointly 
controlled entities that had been presented on multiple lines of the consolidated statements of financial position have 
been aggregated in a single line.   

 
 

(b) Impairment of Assets 
 

Under IAS 36, for the purposes of assessing impairment of property, plant and equipment, management has identified 
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) based on the smallest group of assets that are capable of generating largely 
independent cash inflows.  Under Canadian GAAP, property, plant and equipment were allocated to asset groups 
defined as the lowest level of assets and liabilities for which identifiable cash flows were largely independent of the 
cash flows of other assets and liabilities.  Furthermore, the recoverable amount for impairment analysis is based on 
discounted cash flows under IFRSs, whereas the recoverable amount was assessed on an undiscounted basis under 
Canadian GAAP.  In addition, under Canadian GAAP, reversal of previously recognized impairment losses was 
prohibited.  Under IAS 36, when the impairment has been reduced, previous impairment losses may be reversed up 
to the depreciated amount of the asset had the impairment not occurred. 
 
In accordance with IAS 36, first-time adopter should assess whether there is an indication that a previously 
recognized impairment loss has reversed at the date of transition.  If there is such an indication and the recoverable 
amount of the impaired asset or CGU subsequently increases, then the impairment loss generally is reversed. 
 
At the Transition Date, management performed an assessment on the previously recognized impairment loss on the 
Group’s property, with reference to the recoverable amount, being the fair value of the property as determined by an 
independent firm of chartered surveyors employed by the Group.  It was considered that the previously recognized 
impairment loss had reversed as at the Transition Date.  Thus, the reversal of the impairment loss was credited to the 
Group’s retained earnings. 
  
 

(c) Foreign Currency Translation 
 

In accordance with the exemption under IFRS 1 as described above, the Group has elected to deem all foreign 
currency translation differences that arose prior to the Transition Date in respect of all foreign operations to be nil at 
the Transition Date. 
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5 FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (CONTINUED) 

 
Notes to the reconciliation of equity and reconciliation of statements of operations and comprehensive income 
(continued) 

 
(d) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

 
Under IAS 27, changes in parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions.  The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests shall be 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary.  Any difference between the amount by 
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received, shall be 
recognized directly in equity. 
 
Under Canadian GAAP, when the Company’s interest in the subsidiary increased, the increase was accounted for as 
an incremental acquisition of the underlying assets of the subsidiary.  When the Company’s interest in the subsidiary 
decreased and the Company still retained control, the impact was reflected as a dilution gain or loss in the statement 
of operations. 
 
Upon the transition to IFRS, the gain on the deemed partial disposal of a subsidiary that was recognized in the 
statement of operations was accounted for as capital transactions and the difference between the amount by which 
the non-controlling interests were adjusted and the fair value of the consideration was recognized directly in equity 
and attributed to the owners of the Company.  

 
 
(e) Non-controlling Interest 

 
Under IFRS, non-controlling interest are presented as an allocation of the net profit for the period and other 
comprehensive income (for allocation of total comprehensive income) in the consolidated statement of operations and 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income respectively.  Non-controlling interests in the consolidated 
statement of financial position are classified as equity but are presented separately from the parent shareholder’s 
equity. 
 
Under Canadian GAAP, non-controlling interests in the consolidated statement of operations were presented as an 
expense in arriving at consolidated net profit.  In addition, foreign currency translation differences included in 
consolidated other comprehensive income were presented net of the related non-controlling interest in the statement 
of comprehensive income.  Non-controlling interest in the balance sheet was previously classified between total 
liabilities and equity. 
 

 
6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
 The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to exercise 

judgments to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates and assumptions.  The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates and assumptions are recognized in the period in which the estimate and assumption are revised if 
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods.  The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.  
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6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
(a) Fair Value of Financial Assets/Liabilities 

 
For unlisted investment funds, the fair values are based on the net asset values of the investment funds reported to 
the Trustee by the administrators.  Judgment is required when determining whether the net asset values can reflect 
the fair value of the financial assets.  For unquoted derivatives, the fair value is significantly affected by the 
combination of the valuation methodologies employed, the parameters used and, if required, the underlying sample 
chosen.  The valuation methodologies adopted by the Group are disclosed in note 31(f).  Equity securities, which are 
classified as available for sale, and for which quoted market prices are not available, are carried in the financial 
statements at cost. 

 
 
(b) Fair Value of Convertible Debentures 

 
The Company has established a process to ensure the valuation techniques used to establish the fair value of the 
embedded derivatives in the convertible debentures are developed by qualified personnel and are validated and 
reviewed by personnel independent of the area that developed the valuation techniques.  The determination of fair 
value was made after consideration of a number of inputs which require management estimates.  Such inputs include 
credit and counterparty risk and risk correlations, volatility of share prices and dividend yield of the Company.  
Management estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and are adjusted if necessary.  Should any of the 
estimates and assumptions change, the fair value of the embedded derivatives in convertible debentures may change. 

 
 
(c) Impairment Allowances on Loans and Receivables 

 
The Group periodically reviews its loan portfolios to assess whether any impairment exist.  In determining whether 
impairment allowances should be recorded in the consolidated statement of operations, the Group has individually 
evaluated each loan account for impairment after taking into account the value of each client account’s underlying 
collateral and the latest financial position of those borrowers in default of settlement. 
 
 

(d) Income Tax  
 
The Group’s tax losses are mainly derived from Hong Kong subsidiaries engaged in proprietary trading activities and 
a Canadian-based subsidiary engaged in the provision of financial advisory services to clients in both Canada and the 
People Republic of China ("PRC").  At the end of each reporting period, after reviewing the performance of the Hong 
Kong, PRC and Canadian financial markets, management will estimate whether there will be any fair value gain on 
the investment portfolios and secured retainer contracts so as to assess whether there will be sufficient future profits 
or taxable temporary differences available.  Future income tax assets will be recognized if there is a high probability 
that future profits or taxable temporary differences are available.  No future income tax assets will be recognized if the 
future profit streams are unpredictable. 
 

 
(e) Monies Held in an Escrow Account  

 
As of the reporting date, the Group believes it might not eventually recover the Escrow Funds in full.  However, the 
management of the Group currently considers such eventual outcome is not likely after taking into account the nature 
of the escrow agreement and the opinion of Group’s legal counsel. The detail of other receivable together with 
management consideration is disclosed in note 11.   
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7 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
  
 Land and 

buildings held 
for own use 

 
Leasehold 

improvements 

Furniture 
and 

fixtures 

 
Office 

equipment 

 
Motor 

vehicles 

 
 

Total 

Cost: US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) 

As at July 1, 2010 1,911 559 212 1,886 357 4,925 

Exchange adjustments - 8 5 4 6 23 

Additions - 11 2 154 - 167 

Disposals - (29) (2) (1) - (32) 

As at June 30, 2011 and  July 1, 2011 1,911 549 217 2,043 363 5,083 

Exchange adjustments - 1 (3) - 1 (1) 

Additions 27,751 1,336 150 651 - 29,888 

Disposals - (149) (34) (568) (61) (810) 

As at June 30, 2012 29,662 1,737 330 2,126 303 34,158 

       

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

      

As at July 1, 2010 185 474 163 1,417 342 2,581 

Exchange adjustments - 5 3 4 5 17 

Charge for the year 39 39 20 236 3 337 

Disposals - (29) (1) - - (30) 

As at June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2011 224 489 185 1,657 350 2,905 

Exchange adjustments - 3 (2) (1) 1 1 

Charge for the year 89 60 18 161 - 328 

Disposals - (127) (33) (565) (61) (786) 

As at June 30, 2012 313 425 168 1,252 290 2,448 

       

Carrying values:       

As at June 30, 2012 29,349 1,312 162 874 13 31,710 

As at June 30, 2011 1,687 60 32 386 13 2,178 

As at July 1, 2010 1,726 85 49 469 15 2,344 

 

 

 As at June 30, 2012, land and buildings held for own use with carrying value of US$27.7 million (June 30, 2011: Nil and 
July 1, 2010: US$1.7 million) have been pledged to secure a bank loan of US$13.2 million (June 30, 2011: Nil and July 
1,2010: US$0.5 million).  

 
As at June 30, 2011, the net book value of office equipment held under finance leases of the Group was US$5,000. The 
finance leases matured in July 2011.  No office equipment was held under finance leases as at June 30, 2012. 
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8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

  Goodwill Trading Rights Memberships Total 

Cost: US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) 

As at July 1, 2010 6,961 825 112 7,898 

Additions 13 - - 13 

As at June 30, 2011 and  2012 6,974 825 112 7,911 

     

Impairment:     

As at July 1, 2010 and June 30, 2011 6,595 629 9 7,233 

Impairment losses recognized during the year  379 - - 379 

As at June 30, 2012 6,974 629 9 7,612 

     

Carrying values     

As at June 30, 2012 - 196 103 299 

As at June 30, 2011 379 196 103 678 

As at July 1, 2010 366 196 103 665 

 

 

9 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO ASSOCIATES 
 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 
 US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) 

Interests in associates     3,125    4,899 3,989 

       
Loans to associates (note a)  277 - - 

 
Notes:  
 
(a) As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had loans to an associate of an aggregate amount of CAD125,000, 

approximately equivalent to US$121,000 (June 30, 2011: Nil and July 1, 2010: Nil).  The loans are interest-bearing at 
10% per annum and the repayment date was extended to September 2012 after the end of the reporting period. 

 
 The Group had a loan to another associate of British Pound 100,000, approximately equivalent to US$156,000 (June 

30, 2011: Nil and July 1, 2010: Nil) as at the end of the reporting period. The loan is interest bearing at 2% per 
annum and is repayable with the term of one year from the date of the loan agreement. 

 
(b) An associate temporarily returned surplus capital of US$1.5 million (2011: Nil) to the Group during the year. 
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9 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 

 
(c) The following list contains the particulars of significant associates which principally affected the results or  
 assets of the Group: 
 Place of 

incorporation/ 
operations 

Principal  
activities 

Effective interests held 
by the Group 

Name   2012 
 

2011 

KCG Capital Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 
 

19.67%* 19.67%* 

KCG Securities Asia Limited Hong Kong Securities brokerage 
 

19.67%* 19.67%* 

Salmon River Resources Ltd. 
 

Canada Evaluation, acquisition, 
exploration and 
development of gold and 
base metal mineral 
properties in Australia 

 

25.35% 29.53% 

Sinochem Kingsway Capital Inc. Cayman Islands Investment holding 19.67%* 19.67%* 
 

* The Company has significant influence on these associates indirectly through SWK, which holds 30% equity 

interests of these associates.  

 

(d) Summarized financial information of associates: 
 
   
 Assets Liabilities Net Assets Revenue Loss 
 US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) US$(‘000) 

      
2012 21,651 (11,675) 9,976 (31) (2,735) 
      
2011 42,686 (27,086) 15,600 1,034 (1,230) 

 
2010 33,878 (20,581) 13,297 1,365 (47) 
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10 AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 

 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

Investment funds at fair value – non-current (Note (a)) 7,352 7,222 3,792 

Equity securities at fair value – current (Note (b)) 1,385 3,551 - 

 8,737 10,773 3,792 

 Notes: 
(a) Investment funds of US$2,613,000 (2011: US$3,288,000 and July 1, 2010: Nil) were carried at fair value based on 

the net asset values of the investment funds reported to the Trustee by the independent fund administrators as of the 
end of the reporting period. 
 

(b) Equity securities of US$1,366,000 (June 30, 2011: US$3,551,000 and July 1, 2010: Nil) were carried at their fair 
values at the quoted bid price as at June 30, 2012.  As at June 30, 2011, the fair value was determined by using its 
initial public offering price as the price had been fixed as at June 30, 2011 and the securities were listed in Hong 
Kong on July 4, 2011.  The fair value measurement of these equity securities was transferred from level 2 to level 1 
during the current year. 

 
The cumulative fair value changes that had been recognized in other comprehensive income were reclassified from 
investment revaluation reserve to “other gains/ (losses), net” in the consolidated statement of operations amounted of 
US$2,662,000 as a reclassification adjustment and the accumulated fair value changes on available for sale financial 
assets were recognized as impairment loss as there is objective evidence that the investments are impaired. 
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11 OTHER RECEIVABLE 
 

During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Group deposited an amount of HK$40.0 million, approximately equivalent to 
US$5.1 million (the “Escrow Funds”), into an escrow account maintained by an international law firm in Hong Kong, 
namely K&L Gates, pursuant to the terms of an escrow agreement dated March 28, 2011.  As has been widely reported, 
a partner of K&L Gates was arrested by the Hong Kong Police in 2011 and charged with theft and forgery with respect to 
monies held in K&L Gates' escrow account.  
 
During the year, K&L Gates has not returned the Escrow Funds despite the demand for payment by the Group.  The 
Group has commenced legal proceeding against the law firm and its partners for recovery of the Escrow Funds. The 
Group’s legal counsel has reviewed the documentary evidence in respect of the escrow agreement, has analyzed the 
legal duties and obligations of the law firm arising from the terms of the escrow agreement and has analyzed the legal 
and professional duties and obligations of the law firm arising from the receipt of the Escrow Funds (which were client 
monies and held in trust). The Group’s legal counsel is of the opinion that the Group has good prospects on succeeding 
on its claim to recover the Escrow Funds and that it is very likely that any judgment obtained would be satisfied.  However, 
there might be a reduction in the ultimate recovery of the Escrow Funds by the amount of the service fees paid to the 
Group and the legal fees and expenses for the lawsuit which might not be entirely recovered. 
 
The management of the Group currently considers that the Escrow Funds excluding the fee paid to the Group and the 
legal fees and expenses for the lawsuit would be recovered eventually, taking into account the nature of the escrow 
agreement and the opinion of Group’s legal counsel as set forth above.  Moreover, in the event the Group might not 
recover the Escrow Funds in full, the management will take all possible courses of action in order to recover the 
remaining amount from the assets of the partners of K&L Gates if necessary.   
 
As the timing of recovering this amount is expected to be more than twelve months, the Group has reclassified the 
Escrow Funds as a non-current asset, from the current assets which was presented as accounts and other receivables 
for the year ended June 30, 2011.  Therefore, the Group has discounted the Escrow Funds by using the effective interest 
method.  
 

12 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 

 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

Statutory deposits 823 1,306 1,109 

Other deposits and receivables 141 141 141 

 964 1,447 1,250 
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13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprises of listed held for trading investments and unlisted 
investments as follows: 
 

 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 

 

July 1, 2010 

 
 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    

-  Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 11,320 22,033 40,470 

-  Listed equity securities outside Hong Kong 993 6,272 3,612 

-  Listed debt securities in Hong Kong 1,023 993 - 

-  Listed debt securities outside Hong Kong 2,476 3,182 - 

-  Unlisted derivatives 858 1,281 771 

 16,670 33,761 44,853 
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14 ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 

 

July 1, 2010 

 
 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

Amounts due from brokers and clearing houses 7,184 19,667 22,007 

Amounts due from margin clients (Note (a))  7,989 7,885 3,526 

Amounts due from cash clients 1,832 5,533 19,437 

Other receivables (Note (b)) 1,016 1,564 507 

Prepaid expenses and deposits (Note (c)) 702 5,358 347 

 18,723 40,007 45,824 

Notes: 
 

(a)   Margin clients of the brokerage division are required to pledge securities collateral to the Group in order to 
obtain the credit facilities for securities trading.  The amount of credit facilities granted to them is determined by 
the discounted value of securities accepted by the Group.  As at June 30, 2012, the total market value of 
securities pledged as collateral for the loans to margin clients was approximately US$60 million (June 30, 2011: 
US$75 million and July 1, 2010: US$26 million).  Amounts due from margin clients are repayable on demand 
and bear interest at commercial rates. 

 
(b)   The balance included amounts of US$108,000 (June 30, 2011: Nil and July 1, 2010: Nil) receivable from 

associates arising from normal business transactions.  The Group normally allows credit periods of up to 30 
days to customers, except for certain creditworthy customers with long-term relationships and stable payment 
pattern, where the terms are extended to a longer period. 

 
(c)   As at June 30, 2011, the balance included a deposit of HK$40.0 million, approximately equivalent to US$5.1 

million placed into an escrow account maintained by an international law firm in Hong Kong. The balance was 
reclassified to non-current asset in the current year (note 11) because it may take more than twelve months to 
recover the balance. 
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14 ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

(d)   The aging analysis of accounts and other receivables net of impairment losses based on 
invoice/advanced/trade date is as follows: 
 

 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 

 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

    

Current and within one month 17,515 34,064 45,173 

More than one month and within three months 187 379 117 

More than three months 319 206 187 

 18,021 34,649 45,477 

 
   The aging analysis of accounts and other receivables net of impairment losses that were past due but not impaired 

is as follows: 

 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 

 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

    

Within one month past due 23 335 84 

More than one month and within three months past due 181 175 120 

More than three months past due 304 73 160 

 508 583 364 
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14 ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTNUED) 
 
(e) Impairment losses in respect of accounts, loans and other receivables are recorded using an allowance account 

unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off 
against accounts, loans and other receivables directly.  Impairments of accounts, loans and other receivables are 
made in the consolidated statement of operations after proper review by the senior management, based on the latest 
status of the receivables, and the latest announced or available information about the underlying collateral held.    

The movements in the allowance for impairment were as follows: 

 Amounts due 
from margin 

clients 

 
Other 

receivables 

 
 

Total 
 US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) 

As at July 1, 2010 459 722 1,181 

Amounts written off as uncollectible - (637) (637) 

Amounts recovered during the year - 208 208 

Impairment losses recognized on receivables - 10 10 

Impairment losses reversed - (298) (298) 

As at June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2011 459 5 464 

Amounts written off as uncollectible - (26) (26) 

Impairment losses recognized on receivables - 128 128 

As at June 30, 2012 459 107 566 

 
 
 

As at June 30, 2012, the allowance for impairment of amounts due from jointly controlled entities of US$518,000 
(June 30, 2011: US$555,000) is not included in the table above. Impairment losses of US$37,000 were reversed 
during the year. 
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15 AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES 
 

 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 

 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

    

Due from a director (Note (a)) 766 731 695 

Due from other parties (Note (b)) 331 274 - 

 1,097 1,005 

 

695 

 
 
(a) In April 2004, the Company granted a HK$ loan equivalent of approximately US$565,000 to a director of the 

Company to subscribe for shares in the Company.  Repayable on demand, the loan bears interest at 1% over the 
Hong Kong Dollar Best Lending Rate and is secured by shares of the Company, which are pledged by the borrower.  
The outstanding balance represents the original loan balances and accumulated interest, as well as certain other 
miscellaneous advances to the director. 

 
(b) In April 2011, a loan with the principal amount of US$270,000 granted by a subsidiary of the Group was drawn by 

minority shareholders for the acquisition of shares of another subsidiary of the Group.  Additional loans of 
US$63,000 and US$24,000 were drawn by these minority shareholders in October 2011 and February 2012 
respectively for the working capital of the subsidiary.  The loans are unsecured, repayable on demand and bear 
interest at 1% over the Hong Kong Dollar Best Lending rate. During the year, principal in the aggregate amount 
US$27,000 and a portion of the interest were repaid by the minority shareholders. As at the end of the reporting 
periods, the outstanding balance represents the loan balance with accumulated interest. 

  

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

The Group maintains segregated clients’ accounts with licensed banks to hold clients’ monies arising from normal 
business transactions in connection with the Group’s brokerage activities.  As at June 30, 2012, segregated clients’ 
accounts not otherwise dealt with in these consolidated financial statements amounted to US$48,827,000 (June 30, 2011: 
US$57,069,000 and July 1, 2010: US$47,862,000). 

  

17 ACCRUALS, ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 

 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

    

Amounts due to brokers and clearing houses 783 6 4,266 

Clients' accounts payable 8,717 20,774 41,086 

Other creditors and accruals 5,378 5,379 3,544 

 14,878 26,159 48,896 
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18 BANK LOANS 
 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 

 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

    

Secured bank loans 13,205 - 517 

    
The bank loans are repayable as follows:    

Within one year - - 97 

More than one year but within two years 2,641 - 100 

More than two years but within five years 10,564 - 305 

More than five years - - 15 

 13,205 - 517 

 
The bank loan as at June 30, 2012 is secured by a mortgage over the Group’s property (note 7) and bears interest at an 
annual rate of 2.3% over 3-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate.  Bank loans as at July 1, 2010 were fully repaid 
during the year ended June 30, 2011. 
 
Some of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfillment of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s 
statement of financial position ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions.  If the 
Group were to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand.  The Group regularly 
monitors its compliance with these covenants.  Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in 
note 31.  As at June 30, 2012, none of the covenants relating to drawn facilities had been breached. 

 

19 CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES 
 

In September 2008, the Group issued 9% unsecured convertible debentures with an aggregate principal amount of 
CAD7.5 million (approximately US$7.0 million).  The debentures bore interest at the rate of 9% per annum payable semi-
annually in arrears and were to mature on September 19, 2011 at their nominal value of CAD7.5 million, or be converted 
into shares at the holder’s option at any time prior to the close of business on the earlier of maturity and the business day 
immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption of the convertible debentures at a conversion price of CAD0.80 per 
share.  The Group would have had the right to early redeem the debentures in whole or in part, if, and only if, the 20-day 
volume weighted average price of the common shares of the Company (the "Shares") traded on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange ("TSX") exceeded CAD1.60 per share. 
 
In November 2010, debentures with principal amount of CAD0.5 million (approximately equivalent to US$0.5 million) 
were repurchased, reducing the total principal outstanding to CAD7.0 million (approximately equivalent to US$7.0 million) 
after the repurchase. 
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19 CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 
In December 2010, the Group amended the terms and conditions of the debentures.  The interest rate was reduced from 
9% per annum to 1% per annum and the maturity date was extended by two years to September 19, 2013.  The 
conversion price was reduced from CAD0.80 per share to CAD0.55 (approximately equivalent to US$0.55) per share.  
The redemption price was also reduced from CAD0.80 per share to CAD0.55 (approximately equivalent to US$0.55) per 
share if the 20-day volume weighted average price of the shares listed on the TSX exceeds CAD1.10 (approximately 
equivalent to US$1.10) per share (reduced from CAD1.60 per share). 
 

If the daily trading volume of the Shares in each of the previous 20 consecutive trading days prior to the redemption date 
equals or exceeds 10% of the aggregate number of Shares to be issued upon redemption on a cumulative basis, the 
Company may satisfy its obligation to pay the principal amount of the convertible debentures and any accrued and 
unpaid interest in whole or in part by delivering that number of Shares equal to the amount due and accrued interest 
thereon at a price of CAD0.55 (approximately equivalent to US$0.55) per Share as long as the market price of the 
Shares at the time of payment is equal to or less than CAD0.69 (approximately equivalent to US$0.69) (reduced from 
CAD1.00) per share and if the market price of the Shares exceeds CAD0.69 (approximately equivalent to US$0.69) 
(reduced from CAD1.00) per share at the time of payment, the price at which the Shares may be issued for such 
payment may be no less than the market price less the maximum discount provided by the TSX regulations for private 
placements. 
 

The convertible debentures contain a liability component, a conversion option derivative component and a redemption 
option derivative component.  As the amendment of the terms in December 2010 resulted in substantially different terms, 
the liability component and the conversion option derivative component of the original convertible debentures issued in 
2008 were extinguished and were de-recognized during the year.  A new liability component and a new conversion 
option derivative component in relation to the debentures with principal amount of CAD7.0 million (approximately 
equivalent to US$7.0 million) were recognized in the year ended June 30, 2011.     
 

The liability component was recognized at fair value at the date of issuance.  The fair value of the liability component was 
calculated by discounting the contractual future cash flows using the market interest rates for non-convertible debentures 
with similar credit rating and remaining time to maturity.  In subsequent periods, the liability component is carried at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.  The effective interest rate of the liability component of the re-issued 
debentures is 16%. 
 

In June 2011, debentures with principal amount of CAD1.0 million (approximately equivalent to US$1.0 million) were 
converted into Shares. As at June 30, 2012, the principal amount of total debentures outstanding was CAD6.0 million 
(approximately equivalent to US$5.8 million). 
 

The conversion option derivative is not closely related to the liability component and is classified as derivative as the 
conversion will not result in the issuance of a fixed number of Shares in settlement of a fixed amount of the liability 
component.  The redemption option derivative is not closely related to the host contract as the redemption amount is not 
closely related to the amortized cost of the liability on the redemption date.  Both the conversion option derivative and the 
redemption option derivative are measured at fair value with the change in fair value recognized in the consolidated 
statement of operations.  As the fair value of the redemption option asset is not significant, it is not accounted for 
separately.  
 

During the year ended June 30, 2012, the fair value gain on financial derivative liabilities arising from the convertible 
debentures of US$3,350,000 were recognized in “Other gains/(losses)” in the Group's consolidated statement of 
operations. For the year ended June 30, 2011, net loss on financial derivative liabilities and convertible debentures 
comprised of the fair value loss on financial derivative liabilities arising from the convertible debentures of US$1,995,000 
and the net loss on repurchase, amendment of terms and conversion of debentures of US$88,000. The total net loss of 
US$2,083,000 was charged to the Group’s consolidated statement of operations during that year. 
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19 CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 
The Black-Scholes model was used to determine the fair value of the conversion option derivative as at June 30, 2012. 
The main inputs to the valuation of the conversion option derivative included the implied price of the stock, the life of the 
option, the expected volatility and the risk free interest rate as follows:   
   2012 2011 
    
Stock Price  C$0.35 C$0.85 
Option life  1.22 years 2.22 years 
Volatility  80% 60% 
Risk-free interest rate  0.99% 1.59% 

 
The movements of the liability and financial derivative components of the convertible debentures are as follows: 
 
                                                                                           2012                                                                      2011 
 

  Financial    Financial  
 Liability derivative   Liability derivative  
 component component Total  component component Total 

 US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000)  US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) 

        

As at July 1, 2011 and 2010 4,429 4,235 8,664  6,588 239 6,827 

Effective interest expense 750 - 750  893 - 893 

Accrued interest expense (30) - (30)  - - - 

Interest paid (30) - (30)  (368) - (368) 

Fair value changes - (3,350) (3,350)  - 1,995 1,995 

Repurchase of debentures - - -  (463) - (463) 

Conversion to Shares - - -  (738) (520) (1,258) 

Extinguishment of debentures upon        

modification of terms - - -  (6,505) (2) (6,507) 

Re-issue of debentures upon        

modification of terms - - -  4,641 2,349 6,990 

Exchange difference (286) (180) (465)  381 174 555 

As at June 30, 2012 and 2011 4,833 705 5,539  4,429 4,235 8,664 
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20 DEFERRED TAXATION 
 

(a) Deferred Tax Liabilities Recognized 
 
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
movements during the year are as follows: 

 
 Accelerated depreciation 

 US$ ('000) 

As at July 1, 2010 39 

Credited to consolidated statement of operations (7) 

As at June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2011 32 

Charged to consolidated statement of operations 98 

As at June 30, 2012 130 

 
(b) Deferred Tax Assets Not Recognized 

 
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 3(n), the Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in 
respect of cumulative tax losses of US$63 million (June 30, 2011: US$48 million and July 1, 2010: US$54 million) as 
it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilized will be available in the relevant 
tax jurisdiction and entity. Over 85% of the tax losses were attributable to Hong Kong business operations and do not 
expire under current tax regulation. 
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21 CAPITAL STOCK 

   

  
NO. OF 

 

  
COMMON 

 

  
SHARES AMOUNT 

  
 ('000)   US$ ('000)  

Authorized: 
  

Issued: 
   

Balance, as at July 1, 2010       90,339          6,442  

    
Issue of shares through exercising of stock options (note (a))            208                  8  

Issue of shares from conversion of convertible debentures (note (b))         1,818                73  

Balance, as at June 30, 2011 and 2012       92,365          6,523  
 
 
Notes: 
 
(a) The Company and its subsidiaries operate two stock option plans and a Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) plan. Under the 

stock option plans, stock options are vested, subject to certain qualifying conditions, over a three-year period, with option 
lives ranging from thirty six months to sixty months (Note 21(d)). 
 
Effective October 1, 2004, the Company established the DSU plan which is a share award plan used as a tool for 
providing compensation to directors. 
 
A DSU is a notional common share having the same value as one common share (a “Share”) at the time of grant.  As 
with a Share, the holder of a DSU is entitled to participate in any dividends declared by the Company and a DSU, once 
vested, may be exchanged without further payment for a Share issued from treasury.  DSUs are personal to the individual 
to whom they have been issued and are not transferable. 
 
A portion or all of future directors' fees payable to directors will be paid by the issuance of DSUs.  Independent directors' 
annual base retainers will be satisfied by the issuance of DSUs pursuant to the DSU plan.  Any other fees payable to 
independent directors may be satisfied in a combination of cash and DSUs at the election of the director.  Any Shares 
necessary for the DSUs will be allocated from the Company's stock option plan.  As at June 30, 2012, approximately 
1,064,000 shares (2011: 754,000 shares) were issued under the DSU plan. During the year, no DSUs were exchanged 
for common shares (2011: 207,401). 
 

(b) In June 2011, 1,818,181 common shares of the Company were converted from the Company's convertible debentures 
with principal amount of CAD1,000,000 at the conversion price of CAD0.55 per shares. The capital stock and the share 
premium have increased by US$73,000 and US$961,000 respectively.  No such transactions occurred in the year ended 
June 30, 2012. 
 

(c) As at June 30, 2012, the reserve balance for the future issue of shares under the Company’s SWH Stock Option Scheme 
is approximately 2,570,000 shares (2011: approximately 335,000 shares).  The Company's SWK Stock Option Scheme 
maintains a reserve balance for the future issue of approximately 225,822,000 shares (2011: approximately 225,822,000 
shares). 
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21 CAPITAL STOCK (CONTINUED) 

 
(d) In 2007, stock options to subscribe for 2,500,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price of CAD0.70 per share 

were granted to an officer.  Options to subscribe for 1,000,000 shares vested during 2007 were lapsed on November 20, 
2011.  The 1,500,000 unvested stock options were cancelled on January 1, 2009. 
 
In 2009, 1,500,000 stock options to subscribe for 1,500,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price of CAD0.80 
per share were granted to the officer.  The options were vested on January 1, 2009 and will expire on December 31, 2013. 
 
In December 2010, 7,700,000 stock options to subscribe for 7,700,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price 
of CAD0.55 per share were granted by the Company to several directors, officers and employees of the Group. 7,427,500 
stock options were vested immediately with the remaining to be vested over a period ranging from 1 to 3 years. The 
options will expire on December 15, 2015. On September 19, 2011, 2,000,050 stock options which were over-allotted to 
the Company's directors were cancelled. During the year, 234,450 (2011: 5,000) of the unvested stock options were 
forfeited. 
 

(e) In June 2011, the Company entered into an investor relations consulting agreement with an independent third party for 
the provision of investor relations consulting service to the Company.   In connection with the agreement, 400,000 stock 
options to subscribe for 400,000 common shares of the Company were granted to the service provider.  200,000 stock 
options are exercisable at a price of CAD0.76 per share and 200,000 stock options are exercisable at CAD1.00 per share.  
As at June 30, 2012, the options were vested and will expire on the earlier of May 31, 2013 or the termination of the 
consulting agreement. 

 
(f) In 2011, 99,000,000 stock options to subscribe for 99,000,000 shares of SWK at a strike price of HKD0.345 (equivalent to 

US$0.04) per share were granted to the directors and officers of SWK.  The options vested on January 11, 2011 and will 
expire on January 10, 2014. 
 

(g) A summary of the status of the Group's stock option plans as at June 30, 2012 and 2011, and changes during the years 
ended on those dates, are presented below: 
 
SWH Stock Option Scheme                 2012 

 
    2011 

    
Weighted 

 
Weighted 

   
No. of average No. of Average 

   
Shares exercise price Shares exercise price 

   
('000)  US$  ('000)  US$  

       Outstanding, as at July 1, 2011 and 2010          10,595             0.61           2,500             0.76  
Granted 

  
         -             -                  8,100   0.57  

Forfeited 
  

               (1,234)            0.65                   (5)                  0.55  
Cancelled 

  
(2,000) 0.53 - - 

Outstanding, as at June 30, 2012 and 2011  
(Weighted average remaining 

  contractual life - 2.92 years (2011: 3.68 years))        7,361             0.60          10,595             0.61  

Options exercisable, as at June 30, 2012 and 2011        7,217             0.60           10,113             0.60  

       
  
There were no options exercised during the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. 
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The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the 
following weighted average assumptions: 

 
Risk-free interest rate 

   
1.24% - 1.96% 

Expected life  
   

1 year to 5 years 
Expected volatility 

   
60.42% - 108.72% 

Expected dividend yield 
   

2.39% - 3.45% 

 
 

    The fair value of options at the time of granting ranged from US$0.10 to US$0.30. 
 

The Company also adopted a share bonus plan on December 31, 1995, permitting common shares of the Company to 
be issued to eligible employees of the Company on a discretionary basis, provided certain conditions were satisfied.  No 
such bonus shares were issued during the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. 

 
SWK Stock Option Scheme 

 

  
2012 2011 

   
Weighted 

 
Weighted 

  
No. of average No. of average 

  
Shares exercise price Shares exercise price 

  
('000)  US$  ('000)  US$  

      Outstanding, as at July 1, 2011 and 2010  99,000  0.04                   -                   -  
Granted 

 
    -            -         99,000             0.04  

Outstanding, as at June 30, 2012 and 2011  
(Weighted average remaining contractual life  

- 1.53 years (2011: 2.53 years))        99,000             0.04     99,000             0.04  

Options exercisable as at June 30, 2012 and 2011        66,000             0.04         33,000             0.04  
 

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the 
following weighted average assumptions: 

 
Risk-free interest rate 

   
0.42% - 0.74% 

Average expected life  
   

1.5 years - 2.5 years 
Expected volatility 

   
57.9% - 76.4% 

Expected dividend yield 
   

2.99% 
 

The fair value of options at the time of granting ranged from US$0.01 to US$0.02. 
 

The Black-Scholes option valuation model used by the Group to determine fair values was developed for use in 
estimating the fair value of freely traded options, which are fully transferable and have no vesting restrictions.  In addition, 
this model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including future stock price volatility and expected time 
until exercise.  Because the Company's outstanding stock options have characteristics that are significantly different 
from those of traded options, and because changes in any of the assumptions can materially affect the fair value 
estimate, in Management's opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair 
value of its stock options. 
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22 REVENUE 
 

The principal activities of the Group are investment in securities, stock, options, futures and commodities brokerage, 
provision of financial advisory services, asset management, and money lending and other securities related financial 
services. 
  

 

    
    

  2012 2011 

  US$(‘000) US$(‘000) 

Net (loss)/gain on disposal of financial     
assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss     
and remeasurement to fair value    

–   equity securities  (12,907) 9,652 

–   debt securities  (18) (95) 

–   derivatives and others  825 1,657 

  (12,100) 11,214 

    
Gain on disposal of available for sale financial assets    

–   equity securities  64 -  
    
Commission and fee income on    

–   stock, options, futures and commodities brokerage  5,753 7,613 

–   underwriting and placements in equity capital markets  2,168 2,288 

–   corporate finance  2,008 2,133 

–   asset management  93 - 

–   miscellaneous income  442 1,047 

  10,464 13,081 

    Interest and dividend income    

–   interest from    

–   bank deposits  192 49 

–   margin and IPO financing  1,287 712 

–   loans  215 - 

–   debt securities  557 105 

–   others  69 39 

–   dividends from     

–   listed equity securities 

  

 691 682 

–   unlisted equity securities  

  

 - 186 

unlisted equity securities  3,011 1,773 

      1,439 26,068 
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23 OTHER INCOME  

   
   

 2012 2011 

 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

   

Sale of software products 373 778 

Maintenance fee income 355 343 

Other income 27 7 

 755 1,128 

 
24 FINANCE COSTS 

    
    

  2012 2011 

  US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

Bank loans and overdrafts  6 49 

Mortgage loan  160 - 

Convertible debentures  750 893 

Obligations under finance leases  - 6 

Other  2 

 

- 

 

 

  918 948 

25 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 
    
    

  2012 2011 

  US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

    

Net gain/(loss) on financial derivative liabilities and convertible 
debentures 

 3,350 (2,083) 

Impairment loss on goodwill  (380) - 

Impairment loss on available for sale financial assets  (2,740) - 

(Provision for)/write back of impairment losses of receivables  (539) 285 

Gain on deemed partial disposal of an associate  395 - 

Net foreign exchange gains  148 7 

Loss on disposal of property and equipment  (27) (1) 

  207 (1,792) 
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26  INCOME TAX 
 

The operations of the Group’s companies are substantially conducted in foreign jurisdictions and accordingly are not 
considered to be business conducted in Canada for the purposes of the Canadian Income Tax Act. The results arising 
from the operations are therefore not subject to Canadian tax. 
 
Realized/unrealized foreign currency translation gains/losses arising from translation of foreign subsidiaries included in 
other comprehensive income are not subject to taxation in the respective jurisdictions of the holding companies. 
    

    

  2012 2011 

  US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

    

Current income tax charge for the year  - 94 

Deferred tax charge/(credit) for the year  98 (7) 

  98 87 

   
 

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rates: 
 
 2012 2011 
 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 
   
Loss before tax (21,814) (145) 
Add: Share of losses of associates 810 364 
 (21,004) 219 
   
Income tax based on Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) (3,466) 36 
Effect on income taxes of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions with different 

tax rates 
 

862 
 

895 
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 326 204 
Tax effect of non-taxable income (178) (227) 
Tax effect of utilization of tax losses not previously recognized (1) (1,208) 
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized 2,646 316 
Others (91) 71 
Income tax expense 98 87 
   
 

27  LOSS FOR THE YEAR  
 

Loss for the year is after charging the followings: 
 

 2012 2011 
 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 
   
Depreciation 328 337 
Operating lease expenses 1,625 1,579 
Pension expenses 201 184 
Equity settled share-based payments (note) 780 2,426 
 
Note: 
The cancellation of 2,000,050 stock options in September 2011 was reflected in the consolidated statement of  
operations for the year ended June 30, 2011 (note 21(d)). 
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28 LOSS PER SHARE 
 

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the Group’s loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of 
US$16,557,000 (2011: US$1,730,000) and on the weighted average common shares of 92,365,000 (2011: 90,846,000). 
 
Diluted loss per share for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 has not been presented as the options and 
convertible debentures outstanding during the year had anti-dilutive effects on the basic loss per share for the year. 
 

 
29 DIVIDENDS 

 
(a) Dividends Paid During the Year 

 
 2012 2011 
 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 
   
Final dividend of 2011 of CAD0.010 per common share, 
equivalent to US$0.010 per common share 

  

(2011: final dividend of 2010 of CAD0.020 per common share, 
equivalent to US$0.020 per common share) 

 
901 

 
1,821 

 
 

 
(b) The Board did not propose any final dividend in the current year.  In the previous year, the Board proposed a 

final dividend of Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) 0.010 per common share, equivalent to US$0.010 per common share 
that was paid on December 19, 2011 from the retained earnings. The final dividend proposed after the reporting 
date has not been recognized as a liability at the reporting date. 

 
 
30 PLACEMENT OF SHARES BY A SUBSIDIARY 
 

Pursuant to the share placing agreements and the subscription agreements dated November 23, 2010 and December 17, 
2010, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, World Developments Limited (“WDL”), placed 324,820,000 and 108,000,000 
shares of a subsidiary, Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (“SWK”) to independent third parties at a price of 
HK$0.238 (approximately equivalent to US$0.03) per share and HK$0.265 (approximately equivalent to US$0.03) per 
share respectively.  At the same time, WDL subscribed for 324,820,000 and 108,000,000 of the new shares issued by 
SWK at the same price.  The Group’s shareholding in SWK decreased from 74.25% to 65.52% after the two placements, 
with no change in the number of shares held or the cost of investment.  As a result of the transaction, there was an 
increase in non-controlling interests of US$11,468,000 and an increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company of 
US$2,101,000. 
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31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK EXPOSURE 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, price risk, foreign exchange risk and 
interest rate risk. These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and practices described below. 
 
(a) Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk arises from a number of areas. These include the possibility that a counterparty in a transaction may 
default during the settlement process. It also arises from lending, settlement, treasury, market making, proprietary 
trading, and other activities undertaken by the Group. 
 
The Group’s credit risk mainly arises from its operations in Hong Kong.  The Finance and Credit Committees in Hong 
Kong are responsible for establishing the credit approval and monitoring procedures, which are in accordance with 
sound business practices, the requirements and provisions of the relevant ordinances, and where applicable, the 
codes or guidelines issued by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission. 
 
Day-to-day credit management is performed by the Operations Department in Hong Kong with reference to the 
aforementioned criteria including creditworthiness, collateral pledged, and risk concentration of the counterparties. 
The Finance Committee and Credit Committee in Hong Kong are responsible for review of guidelines on credit limits 
on a regular basis and approval of specific loans or advances if the amount exceeds our pre-set guideline. 
 
Accounts, loans and other receivables consist of amounts due from brokers, clearing houses, clients, term loans, 
loans to associates and other receivable items. In respect of advances to clients, the Group generally requires 
collateral from clients before advances are granted. Collateral normally takes the form of listed securities or cash 
deposits. Amounts due from brokers are treated as lower credit risk as counterparties are reputable financial 
institutions.  In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's accounts, loans and other receivables 
related to a large number of diversified customers and counterparties, the Group does not have any significant 
concentration of credit risk. 
 
The credit risk on listed debt securities is limited as the issuers are companies listed in Hong Kong and Japan. 
Investment in unlisted derivative financial instruments are governed by whether the issuers have good credit ratings. 
The latest financial position of the issuers will be reported to senior management for considering of the credit risk of 
these investments. 
 
The Group is also exposed to credit risk with regards to a deposit into an escrow account maintained by a law firm, 
the details of which are disclosed in notes 6(e) and 11. 
 
The Group has limited credit risk from bank deposits by restricting the selection to leading and reputable banks and 
financial institutions. The Group has not had any significant loss arising from non-performance by these parties in the 
past and management does not expect so in the future. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements is 
represented by the carrying value of each financial asset.  The Group does not provide any guarantees which would 
expose the Group to credit risk. 
 
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was no 
recent history of default. Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent 
customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, senior management believes 
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in 
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.  
  
Other than the amounts due from margin clients as described in note 14(a), the Group does not hold any collateral 
over the receivables.  Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk arising from 
accounts and other receivables are set out in note 14. 
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31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK EXPOSURE (CONTINUED) 

 
(b) Liquidity Risk 

 
The Group manages its liquidity position to ensure the Group maintains a prudent and adequate liquidity ratio, in 
strict accordance with statutory requirements. This is achieved by the management, comprising the Chief Financial 
Officer and relevant senior managers monitoring the liquidity position of the Group on a daily basis to ensure the 
availability of sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations and compliance with the statutory requirements such as 
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules applying to various licensed subsidiaries 
incorporated in Hong Kong. 
 
The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's 
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed 
using contractual rates) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay: 
 

  

 
Repayment 
on demand 

or within 
one month  

 More 
than one 

month but 
within 
three 

months  

 More 
than three 

months 
but within 
one year  

 More 
than one 
year but 

within five 
years  

 Over five 
years   Total  

  
US$('000) 

 
US$('000)  

 
US$('000)  

 
US$('000)   US$('000)  

 
US$('000)  

As at June 30, 2012 
      

       
Accounts payable         12,066                   -                   -                   -                   -         12,066  

Bank loans 
 

                90                -                268              13,737                -            14,095  

Convertible debentures                  -                   -              58           5,833                   -           5,891  

  
       12,156               -              326           19,570                -         32,052  

As at June 30, 2011 
      

        
Accounts payable  21,647                        -                   -                   -                   -         21,647  

Obligations under capital leases                 6                   -                   -                   -                   -                  6  

Convertible debentures                  -                   -                62           6,273                   -           6,335  

  
       21,653                   -                62           6,273                   -         27,988 

        The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements including dividend payments to shareholders and 
payments of accrued expenses to ensure that sufficient reserves of cash is maintained to satisfy its contractual and 
foreseeable obligations as they fall due. 
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31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK EXPOSURE (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Price Risk 
 
The Group is exposed to price changes arising from investments classified as financial assets or financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss and available for sale financial assets. 
 
The Group's listed equity investments and listed debt securities are mainly listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong and the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited respectively. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities 
are made by assigned investment managers and governed by specific investment guidelines. The Investment 
Monitoring Committee (“IMC”) was set up in Hong Kong for the purposes of independently monitoring the positions of 
the Hong Kong subsidiaries' proprietary trading activities involving equities and derivatives. In addition to the IMC, 
the Group's exposures are closely monitored by the Finance Department and senior management on a daily basis 
and are measured on a “mark-to-market” basis. The Group’s various proprietary trading activities are reported 
monthly to senior management for review. 
 
For sensitivity analysis purposes of listed equity investments, the market price of the Tracker Fund of Hong Kong is 
assumed to be increased/decreased in line with the movement of the Hang Seng Index. The risk exposure was 
quantified by comparing the Group's portfolio beta to the beta of the Tracker Fund of Hong Kong.  In addition, the 
Group also makes reference to other relevant indexes for investments listed outside Hong Kong. Assuming a 10% 
upward/downward movement in the Hang Seng Index or the relevant stock index outside Hong Kong, with all other 
variables held constant at the end of the reporting period, the Group's loss before tax would have 
decreased/increased by an estimated US$1,041,000 (2011:  US$2,100,000). 
 
For listed debt securities, it is assumed that the yield of individual debt increased/decreased  by 50 basis points and 
all other variables held constant at the end of the reporting period, the Group's loss before tax would have 
increased/decreased by an estimated US$52,000 (2011: US$76,000). 
 
For unlisted investment funds and equity security, it is assumed that the unit price of the funds and the share price of 
the equity security increased/decreased by 10% and all other variables held constant at the end of the reporting 
period, the Group's loss before tax would have decreased/increased by an estimated US$407,000 (2011: 
US$684,000). 
 

(d) Foreign Exchange Risk 
 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from movements of foreign exchange rates. Foreign 
exchange risk is monitored by the Finance Department and senior management on a daily basis. Monetary assets 
are measured daily on a "mark-to-market" basis. Non-current assets are revalued regularly using the market 
exchange rates. Overall positions are reported monthly to senior management for review. 
 
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and Canada.  The Hong Kong Dollar is linked to the United States Dollar 
and it is considered that no foreign exchange risk from the Hong Kong Dollar is material.  The Group's foreign 
exchange risk primarily arises from currency exposures originating from its proprietary investments, bank balances in 
foreign operation and the liability component of the convertible debentures.  Principal brokerage and lending 
operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong Dollars to obviate foreign exchange risk. Accordingly, the Group has 
no significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations on accounts and loan receivables. 
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31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK EXPOSURE (CONTINUED) 

 
(d) Foreign Exchange Risk (continued) 

The following table details the Group's exposure at the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from  
recognized assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than United States Dollars. 
 

  
 HKD   RMB   CAD   Others  

As at June 30, 2012  US$('000)   US$('000)   US$('000)   US$('000)  

      
Available for sale financial assets 1,266 - 19 - 

Other financial assets        914                -                   -                   -  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss        12,342                   -           993                   -  

     Accounts and other receivables and amounts due from 
related parties        21,952  

                
311                172              70 

Cash and cash equivalents        17,273                697           82                39  

Loans to associates - - 121 155 

Accounts payable        (13,031) 
             

(286) 
                 

(87)             (3) 

Financial derivative liabilities                  -                   -             (705)                  -  

Bank loan            (13,205)                  -                   -                   -  

Convertible debentures                  -                   -          (4,833)                  -  

  
        

Net exposure arising from recognized assets and liabilities        27,511                722          (4,238)                262  

      

  
 HKD   RMB   CAD   Others  

As at June 30, 2011  US$('000)   US$('000)   US$('000)   US$('000)  

      
Available for sale financial assets          3,551                   -                   -                   -  

Other financial assets          1,376                18                   -                   -  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss        23,045              523           6,236                   -  

     Accounts and other receivables and amounts due from 
related parties        39,261                  7                93              105  

Cash and cash equivalents        32,335              373           1,433                  6  

Accounts payable        (21,581)                  -                   -               (39) 

Financial derivative liabilities                  -                   -          (4,235)                  -  

Obligations under capital leases                (6)                  -                   -                   -  

Convertible debentures                  -                   -          (4,429)                  -  

  
        

Net exposure arising from recognized assets and liabilities        77,981              921             (902)               72  
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31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK EXPOSURE (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Foreign Exchange Risk (continued) 
 
An analysis of the estimated change in the Group's loss before tax in response to reasonably possible changes in 
the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period is 
presented in the following table. 

 

 
                        June 30, 2012           June 30, 2011 

 

Increase  / 
(decrease) in 

exchange rates 

Increase/ 
(decrease) on 
loss before tax  
(in US$'000) 

Increase/ (decrease) 
in exchange  

rates 

Increase/ 
(decrease) on 
loss before tax  
(in US$'000) 

Renminbi, RMB +5% 
 

              (36)  +5% 
 

(46) 

 
-5% 

 
                36 -5% 

 
46 

Canadian Dollar, CAD +5% 
 

               212 +5% 
 

45 

 
-5% 

 
              (212)  -5% 

 
(45) 

       The above analysis assumes the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of the reporting 
period and had been applied to each of the Group entities' exposure to currency risk in existence at that date 
while all other variables remain constant. The stated changes also represent management’s assessment of 
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates until the end of the next reporting period.   
 

(e) Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk primarily results from timing differences in the re-pricing of interest bearing assets, liabilities and 
commitments. The Group's interest rate risk exposure arises mainly from bank balances, margin financing, bank 
loans and other lending activities undertaken. Interest rates paid by the Group are managed by the Finance 
Department with the aim of maximizing the spread of interest consistent with liquidity and funding obligations. 
 
Assuming that the Hong Kong market interest rates had been 50 basis points higher and all other variables held 
constant at the end of the reporting period, the Group's loss before tax would have an estimated decrease of 
US$79,000 (2011: US$217,000). 
 

(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm's length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The best evidence of fair 
value is a quoted bid price for financial assets, or an ask price for financial liabilities, from an active market. Where 
independent quoted market prices do not exist, the Company estimates fair values based on market quotations of 
similar securities, other third party evidence or valuation techniques. 
 
Except for certain receivables and payables, the Group's financial assets and liabilities are carried on the statement 
of financial position at fair value. Management is of the opinion that the carrying value of receivables and payables 
approximates fair value due to their short-term to maturity. 
 
The majority of financial assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value are valued based on observable market 
quotations. Where valuation techniques are required to determine fair value, management makes assumptions such 
as the amount and timing of future cash flows, rates of estimated credit losses and discount rates. These 
assumptions are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement. 
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31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK EXPOSURE (CONTINUED) 

 
(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 
 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities; 

 
• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 

within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices); and 
 

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for 
the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 

The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities that are measured as at fair value: 

     

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

As at June 30, 2012 US$('000) US$('000) US$('000) US$('000) 

Assets     

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15,812 858 - 16,670 

Available for sale financial assets 1,366 7,371 - 8,737 

Total 17,178 8,229 - 25,407 

     
Liabilities     

Financial derivative liabilities - 705 - 705 

Total - 705 - 705 

 



  

83 

 

SUNWAH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIODS ENDED MARCH 31, 2012 AND 2011 (UNAUDITED) 
 
31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK EXPOSURE (CONTINUED) 

(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

As at June 30, 2011 US$('000) US$('000) US$('000) US$('000) 

Assets     

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 32,480 1,281 - 33,761 

Available for sale financial assets - 10,773 - 10,773 

Total 32,480 12,054 - 44,534 

     
     

Liabilities     

Financial derivative liabilities - 4,235 - 4,235 

Total - 4,235 - 4,235 

 

During the year, there were no significant changes in the business or economic circumstances that affect the fair 
value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Except as disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, there were no reclassifications of financial 
assets and liabilities during the year. 
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32 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Group's objective for capital management is to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, to 
enhance shareholder value and to match the business funding needs. The Group manages its capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it in line with the changes in economic conditions and business strategies by adjusting the dividend 
payout ratio, returning capital to shareholders or issuing new shares. During the year, the Group consistently followed the 
objectives and applied the policies and process on managing capital. 
 
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. Certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject 
to regulatory imposed capital and liquid capital requirements (Note 31). These subsidiaries complied with those 
requirements at all times during both the current and prior financial years. 
 
The Group monitors capital using a target gearing ratio of 10% - 60%, which is total borrowings divided by the 
shareholders' equity. Total borrowings comprise of bank borrowings, obligations under capital leases, convertible 
debentures and financial derivative liabilities. Shareholders' equity comprises all components of equity attributable to the 
equity shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratio as at June 30, 2012 and 2011 were as follows: 
 

  2012 2011 
  

 US$('000)   US$('000)  
Total bank borrowings 

               13,205    - 
Total obligations under finance leases 

- - 
Total convertible debentures 4,833 4,429 
Total financial derivative liabilities 705 4,235 
Total borrowings 

18,743 8,664 
  

  Shareholders' equity 
47,257 64,285 

Gearing ratio 
40% 13% 
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33 SUBSIDIARIES 

 
The Group’s significant subsidiaries as at the end of the years are as follows: 

 
NAME PLACE OF 

INCORPORATION 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES EQUITY INTEREST HELD 

BY THE GROUP 

    
2012 2011 

Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited Bermuda Investment holding 65.56% 65.56% 

     Kingsway Financial Services Group  
Limited 

Hong Kong 
 

Securities, options and 
futures brokerage 

65.56% 
 

65.56% 
 

     Kingsway Capital Limited 
 

Hong Kong 
 

Provision of financial advisory 
services 

65.56% 
 

65.56% 
 

     Kingsway Group Services Limited 
 

Hong Kong 
 

Provision of management 
services 

65.56% 
 

65.56% 
 

     Kingsway SW Asset Management Limited 
 

British Virgin Islands 
 

Provision of investment  
advisory services 

65.56% 
 

65.56% 
 

     Billion On Development Limited Hong Kong Property holding 65.56% 65.56% 

     Kingsway Lion Spur Technology Limited British Virgin Islands Securities investment 65.56% 65.56% 

     Kingsway Asset Management Group 
Limited 

British Virgin Islands 
 

Investment holding 
 

65.56% 
 

65.56% 
 

     Kingsway Real Estate Services Limited 
 

Hong Kong 
 

Provision of real estate  
services 

65.56% 
 

65.56% 
 

     Kingsway SW Asset Management Limited 
 

Hong Kong 
 

Provision of investment 
advisory services 

65.56% 
 

65.56% 
 

     Best Advisory Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 65.56% 65.56% 

      Kingsway SW Finance Limited Hong Kong Provision of loan  65.56% 65.56% 

   
services & financing 

 
      Bill Lam & Associates Limited Hong Kong Provision of corporate 65.56% 65.56% 

   
services 

  
      Kingsway China Investments Limited Hong Kong Investment holding 65.56% 65.56% 

      Sunwah Capital Holdings Limited Hong Kong Property holding 65.56% 65.56% 

      Primo Results Limited Hong Kong Investment holding 65.56% 65.56% 

      Daceasy (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Software distribution 54.05% 54.05% 

      Pop Electronic Products Limited Hong Kong Development and  54.05% 54.05% 

   
distribution of computer 

 
   

software and hardware 
 

      Kingsway Capital of Canada Inc. Canada Provision of financial 100.00% 100.00% 

   
advisory services 
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33 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 
 
NAME PLACE OF 

INCORPORATION 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES EQUITY INTEREST HELD BY 

THE GROUP 

    
2012 2011 

Sunwah International Financial Services 
Limited  

Hong Kong 
 

Investment holding 
 

100.00% 
 

100.00% 
 

    KIH (Macau) Ltd Macau Provision of advisory 100.00% 100.00% 

   
services 

  
      Sunwah International Investments  

(HK) Limited  
Hong Kong Investment holding and 

provision of general advisory 
services 

100.00% 100.00% 

      Excel Courage Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00% 

      Masterbuilt Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00% 

      Goal Brilliant Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00% 

      Excel Unison Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00% 

      Sunwah International Asset  
Management (Cayman) Limited 

Cayman Islands 
 

Provision of asset 
management  

70.00% 
 

70.00% 
 

  
services 

  
      Excel Day Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00% 

     Sunwah International Advisors (HK) 
Limited 

Hong Kong 
 

Provision of general advisory 
services 100.00% 100.00% 

     Primo Performance Limited Hong Kong Investment holding 65.56% - 

     Dragon Tycoon (HK) Holdings Limited Hong Kong Investment holding 65.56% - 

     Dragon Sphere (HK) Holdings Limited Hong Kong Investment holding 65.56% - 

     Dragon Force Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 65.56% - 

     Dragon Sphere Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 65.56% - 

     Dragon Tycoon Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 65.56% - 

     Golden Bloom Developments Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 65.56% - 

     Magic Year Investment Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 65.56% - 

     Ultimate Bloom Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 65.56% - 
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34 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 
Information reported to the Board of Directors of the Company being the chief operating decision maker, for the 
purposes of resource allocation and assessment performance focuses on types of services provided. 

 
 The Group's activities are organized under the following operating segments: 

Investment in securities Investment in securities for treasury and liquidity 
management 

Structured investment Investment in structured deals including listed and 
unlisted equities, debt securities and investment 
properties 

Brokerage Provision of securities, option, futures and commodities 
brokerage services, margin and other financings and 
other related services 

Corporate finance & capital markets Provision of financial advisory services to corporate 
clients and acting as underwriting and placing agent in 
the equity capital market 

Asset management Provision of real estate services, asset management and 
related advisory services to private equity funds and 
private clients 

Corporate and other activities Provision of management, administrative and corporate 
secretarial services, inter-group loan financing and inter-
group office leasing.  The segment also includes the 
corporate activities of the Group and the investment in 
technologies companies. 

Inter-segment revenues are charged among segments at an agreed rate with reference to the rate normally 
charged to third party customers, the nature of services or the costs incurred. 
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34 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 2012 

 
Investment 

in 
Securities 

Structured 
Investment Brokerage 

Corporate 
Finance & 

Capital 
Markets 

Asset 
Management 

Corporate 
And Other 
Activities 

Inter-
Segment 

Elimination Total 

 US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) 

Net (loss)/gain on disposal of financial assets/liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss and remeasurement to 
fair value 

 

(7,210) 

 

(4,878) 

 

(14) 

 

2 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(12,100) 

Gain on disposal of available for sale financial assets - 64 - - - - - 64 

Commission and fee income - - 6,011 4,353 93 7 - 10,464 

Interest and dividend income 1,180 68 1,694 - - 69 - 3,011 

Total revenue (6,030) (4,746) 7,691 4,355 93 76 - 1,439 

Inter-segment revenue - 125 94 - - 2,910 (3,129) - 

Other Income - - 3 22 - 730 - 755 

Commission expenses - - (1,391) (1,126) - - - (2,517) 

General and administrative expenses (824) (831) (9,301) (4,005) (816) (7,322) 3,129 (19,970) 

Finance costs - (750) (3) - - (165) - (918) 

Other (losses)/gains, net (34) 1,139 (448) (128) (1) (321) - 207 

Share of losses of associates - (742) (68) - - - - (810) 

Loss before tax (6,888) (5,805) (3,423) (882) (724) (4,092) - (21,814) 

Segment total assets 16,869 12,248 35,429 1,587 156 38,412 - 104,701 
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34 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

 2011 

 
Investment 

in 
Securities 

Structured 
Investment Brokerage 

Corporate 
Finance & 

Capital 
Markets 

Asset 
Management 

Corporate 
And Other 
Activities 

Inter-
Segment 

Elimination Total 

 US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) US$ ('000) 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of financial assets/liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss and remeasurement to 
faire value 

 

8,805 

 

2,447 

 

(36) 

 

(2) 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

11,214 

Commission and fee income - 2 8,326 4,746 - 7 - 13,081 

Interest and dividend income 790 186 747 3 - 47 - 1,773 

Total revenue 9,595 2,635 9,037 4,747 - 54 - 26,068 

Inter-segment revenue - - 325 245 - 3,290 (3,860) - 

Other Income - - 2 3 - 1,123 - 1,128 

Commission expenses - - (2,004) (186) - - - (2,190) 

General and administrative expenses (1,459) (969) (8,746) (5,435) (1,043) (8,255) 3,860 (22,047) 

Finance costs (2) (893) (39) - - (14) - (948) 

Other gains/(losses), net 25 (2,283) 66 83 - 317 - (1,792) 

Share of losses of associates - (340) (24) - - - - (364) 

Profit/(loss) before tax 8,159 (1,850) (1,383) (543) (1,043) (3,485) - (145) 

Segment total assets 28,337 20,226 57,072 2,474 726 20,671 - 129,506 
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35 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the 
following is a summary of significant related party transactions which were carried out in the normal course of the 
Group’s business: 

    

    

   2012 2011 

 Note  US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

Brokerage commission earned on securities, options, futures     

and commodities dealing (a)    

-  Group’s directors, officers and their associates   18 15 

Office rental recharged to a company related to a Group’s director (b)  134 132 

Interest income received from (c)    

-  an associate   6 - 

- non-controlling interest of a non-wholly owned subsidiary   25 4 

Office rental expense paid to a company controlled by a Group’s director (b)   - 52 

 
Notes: 
 
(a) Commission rates are set at the same level as those normally offered to third party clients or the applicable staff 

rate if the clients are directors or employees of the Group. 
 

(b) The recharge of rental expenses is primarily based on the percentage of floor area occupied by the companies. 
 

(c) Interest rate are set at the same level as those normally offered to third party clients. 
 

(d) In September 2008, Sun Wah Capital Limited (“Sun Wah”) of Hong Kong, subscribed CAD4,500,000 of the 
private placement offering of the unsecured convertible debentures (“Debentures Offering”) (note 19), convertible 
into common shares of the Company (“Shares”).  Sun Wah is controlled by Dr. Jonathan Koon Shum Choi (“Dr. 
Choi”), who is a director and controlling shareholder of the Company. 
 
As at June 30, 2012, Dr. Choi owns and controls, directly and indirectly, 61,697,310 or 66.8% of the issued and 
outstanding Shares. If the unsecured convertible debentures of the Company (“Debentures”) owned by Dr. Choi 
are fully converted into Shares, Dr. Choi has deemed beneficial ownership of an additional 8,181,818 Shares.  
Together with the 2,166,650 stock options granted by the Company to Dr. Choi, Dr. Choi has ownership or 
control of a total of 72,045,778, or 70.1% of the enlarged shares of the Company after the conversion of the 
relevant debentures and the exercise of the stock options. 
 
In addition, Ideal Performance Limited (“Ideal Performance”), subscribed for CAD1,500,000 of the Offering in 
September 2008.  Ideal Performance is controlled by Mr. Michael Koon Ming Choi (“Mr. Choi”), who is one of the 
directors of the Company and is related to and acting jointly with Dr. Choi.  If the Debentures are fully converted 
by Mr. Choi, Mr. Choi has deemed beneficial ownership of an additional 2,727,273 Shares.  Together with the 
2,166,650 stock options granted by the Company to Mr. Choi, Mr. Choi has ownership or control of a total of 
5,000,860, or 5.1% of the enlarged shares of the Company after the conversion of the relevant debentures and 
the exercise of the stock options. 
 
If both the Debentures and the stock options held by Dr. Choi and Mr. Choi are fully converted and exercised, 
they will have up to 77,046,638, or 71.6% of the enlarged shares of the Company after the conversion of the 
relevant debentures and the exercise of the stock options. 
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35 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

 
    Key Management Personnel Remuneration 
       
 Remuneration for key management personnel, including directors, is as follows: 
 

 2012 2011 
 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

   
Fees 119 113 
Salaries, commissions and other allowance 2,281 2,305 
Bonuses - 690 
Equity settled share-based payment 588 2,238 
Retirement scheme contributions 17 17 

 3,005 5,363 
 
 
36 COMMITMENTS 
 

(a) Capital commitments 
 

 2012 2011 
 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

   
Contracted but not provided for equipment 180 110 

 
 

(b) Amounts payable in future years ending June 30 for operating lease commitments are as follows: 
 

 Land and Buildings Office Equipment 
 US$ (‘000) US$ (‘000) 

2013 492 3 
2014 413 - 
2015 360 - 
2016 331 - 

 1,596 3 
 
 
 
(c) The Group did not enter into any underwriting agreements in relation to the initial public offerings and rights issue as 

at June 30, 2012 (2011: US$5.8 million).
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